## PATIENT AND PROVIDER LEVEL PREDICTORS OF BREAST SURGEONS' PRACTICE STYLES AND MODALITY APPROACHES FOR MASTECTOMY PROCEDURES

by

Sara Shahbazi

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of The University of North Carolina at Charlotte in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Health Services Research

Charlotte

2017

Approved by:

Dr. Larissa R. Brunner Huber

Dr. Ahmed A. Arif

Dr. Christopher M. Blanchette

Dr. James Laditka

Dr. Akinwumi Ogundiran

© 2017 Sara Shahbazi ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

## ABSTRACT

## SARA SHAHBAZI. Patient and Provider Level Predictors of Breast Surgeons' Practice Styles and Modality Approaches for Mastectomy Procedures (Under the direction of DR. LARISSA R. BRUNNER HUBER)

Background: Breast cancer surgery, including mastectomy and breast conserving surgery, is the primary treatment for non-metastatic breast cancer (stages 0 to III) to remove the tumor. Currently, mastectomy, like other types of breast surgical options can be performed on an inpatient or ambulatory basis. Outpatient procedures do not require an overnight hospital stay and patients may go home several hours after surgery. Although a patient's preferences and medical history should be taken into account during the decision-making process, physicians' preferences may also play a role. These preferences can give rise to a unique pattern of practice over time, which is called surgical modality signature/approach. As a result, some surgeons exclusively perform inpatient or outpatient procedures, however, some other surgeons perform both methods. No study, to date, has examined the factors that can influence a physician's choice of practice style and modality approach.

Objective: The purpose of this study was to evaluate patient and provider level factors contributing to a surgeon's choice of practice style [i.e. Inpatient Mastectomy (IM) versus Outpatient Mastectomy (OM)] and selection of modality approaches [i.e. exclusively inpatient, exclusively outpatient, or bimodality approach].

Methods: Using 2013 Florida HCUP-State Inpatient and State Ambulatory Surgical Databases, a cross-sectional study was performed among 6,413 patients who underwent a mastectomy in the state of Florida in 2013. Surgeons' choice of practice style and modality tactics were assessed and the following predictor variables were considered: patient age, patient race, pay source, patient residency, patient comorbidities, median household income level, surgeon volume, hospital mastectomy and total discharge volumes, teaching and ownership status of the hospital, hospital bed-size, and hospital location. Multilevel mixed-effects logistic regression models were utilized to estimate odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) of the odds of surgeons' choice of practice styles and modality approaches while controlling for patient comorbidities, median household income level, hospital bed-size, and hospital location. Results: In the adjusted analysis, African-Americans (OR=0.71, 95% CI: 0.59-0.85), Hispanics (OR=0.74, 95% CI: 0.63-0.88), and private insurance holders (OR=0.83, 95% CI: 0.71-0.98) had decreased odds of being operated on by OM style surgeons. In addition, high volume surgeons had decreased odds of being among OM style surgeons (OR=0.61, 95% CI: 0.52-0.72). High mastectomy volume hospitals were associated with decreased odds of having surgeries done by OM style surgeons (OR=0.75, 95% CI: 0.61-0.93). In contrast, non-teaching and for-profit hospitals were associated with increased odds of having surgeries performed by outpatient style surgeons (non-teaching: OR=2.74, 95% CI: 2.40-3.11 and for-profit: OR=1.44, 95% CI: 1.25-1.65). For the modality approach outcome, African-Americans had 1.53 times the odds of their mastectomies being performed by exclusively inpatient approach surgeons (95% CI: 1.02-2.28). High volume surgeons had decreased odds of choosing surgeons with exclusive modality approaches in their mastectomies (exclusive IM: OR=0.06, 95% CI: 0.04-0.09, and exclusive OM: OR:0.11, 95% CI: 0.08-0.14). However, high mastectomy volume hospitals had increased odds of having surgeries performed by exclusive OM surgeons:

(OR=1.50, 95% CI: 1.03-2.17). Non-teaching and for-profit hospitals had approximately two-fold increased odds of having surgeries performed by exclusive approach surgeons (exclusive IM non-teaching hospitals: OR=1.69, 95% CI:1.19-2.39, exclusive OM non-teaching hospitals: OR=1.89, 95% CI:1.51-2.37, exclusive IM for profit hospitals: OR=2.23, 95% CI:1.63-3.05, and exclusive OM for profit hospitals: OR=2.67, 95% CI:2.11-3.38).

Conclusion: The present study suggests that patient-level factors such as patient race, pay source, and age are associated with surgeons' practice styles and modality approaches for mastectomy procedure. Moreover, surgeon volume and institutional factors such as hospital characteristics were found to be associated with surgeons' choice of style and modality approach. Future studies are needed to investigate the extent of variations in practice styles. Findings from this study provide additional insight into understanding the need for patient education regarding mastectomy treatment options. The present study also highlights the need for specialized and focused training of breast surgeons to help surgeons get experience in both methods and to make decisions based on patient needs rather than their treatment style preferences. Furthermore, the findings suggest that greater attention should be paid to efforts to adopt policies at the hospital-level in order to optimize the use of both IM and OM modalities.

# DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my father, my mother, my husband, and my sisters for their endless love and support.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to start by acknowledging that this dissertation would not have been possible without unmatched mentorship and extraordinary support provided by my advisor, Dr. Larissa R. Brunner Huber. I doubt I can ever show enough gratitude for her thoughtful mentorship and guidance and her confidence in my abilities. She taught me to become an independent researcher by thinking out of the box. I hope to be privileged to benefit from her mentorship and collaboration throughout my future career.

I would like to express my deep appreciation to my committee members, Dr. Ahmed A. Arif, Dr. Christopher M. Blanchette, Dr. James Laditka, and Dr. Akinwumi Ogundiran. Their feedback was always helpful and gave me inspiration for the next steps to take. I am thankful to Dr. James Studnicki for providing data support and to my friends and colleagues who have offered encouragement, valuable comments on my work and helpful suggestions. I would also like to thank UNC Charlotte Graduate School for supporting my doctoral studies through Graduate Assistant Support Plan. Outside work, I have been blessed with continued support and love of my family and I am forever thankful for having them in my life. Last but not the least, I would like to thank my love and my best friend, *Hamidreza Jafarian*, for his endless caring, understanding, encouragement and love. Without his support, presenting this work was not possible. Please accept these words as a humble reflection of my sincere gratitude to you.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Background	1
1.1.1 Breast Cancer Incidence and Risk Factors	1
1.1.2 Breast Cancer Treatment	3
1.1.3 Breast Cancer Surgical Approaches	4
1.2 Significance	5
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	8
2.1 Variations in Physicians' Practice Styles and Patterns	8
2.2 Selection of Surgical Style for Breast Cancer Patients	10
2.3 Patient-level Predictors of Surgeon's Choice of Surgical Style	11
2.4 Provider-level Predictors of Surgeon's Choice of Surgical Style	18
2.5 Summary and Study Significance	29
2.6 Objectives and Hypotheses	32
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	34
3.1 Conceptual Framework	34
3.2 Data Sources	38
3.3 Human Subject Protection	41
3.4 Dependent Variables/Outcome Measures	43
3.5 Independent/Predictor Variables	45
3.6 Data Analysis	50

# CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

	4.1 Descriptive Results	52
	4.1.1 Patient Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles	53
	4.1.2 Patient Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches	53
	4.1.3 Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles	54
	4.1.4 Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches	55
	4.2 Unadjusted Associations between Patient and Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles and Modality Approaches	56
	4.2.1 Unadjusted Results for Patient Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles	56
	4.2.2 Unadjusted Results for Patient Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches	57
	4.2.3 Unadjusted Results for Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles	58
	4.2.4 Unadjusted Results for Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches	59
	4.3 Adjusted Associations between Patient and Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles and Modality Approaches	60
	4.3.1 Adjusted Results for Patient and Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles	60
	4.3.2 Adjusted Results for Patient and Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches	61
	4.4 Sensitivity Analysis Results	62
СНАР	TER 5: DISCUSSION	79
	5.1 Overall Findings	79
	5.2 Evidence Supporting Study Findings on Variations in Surgeons Practice Patterns	84
	5.3 Strengths and Limitations	86

52

5.4 Policy and Practice Implications	89
REFERENCES	96
APPENDIX A: Sensitivity Analysis excluding surgeons with exact number of IM and OM	13
APPENDIX B: Sensitivity Analysis excluding surgeons with one Record of Mastectomy	15

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: List of Variables Obtained from SID/SASD Databases	39
Table 3.2: List of Hospital Characteristics Variables Obtaining from SID/SASD & AHCA Databases	41
Table 3.3: Mastectomy Procedure ICD-9 code to CPT Mapping	43
Table 3.4 Patient Existing Comorbidities (Elixhauser Comorbidities Based on ICD-9-CM Codes)	47
Table 3.5: Definition of Variables and Coding	49
Table 4.1.a: Characteristics of Patients Undergoing Mastectomy by Type of Procedure, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	63
Table 4.1.b: Patients Comorbidities (Elixhauser Comorbidities Based on ICD-9-CM Codes) by Type of Mastectomy, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	64
Table 4.2.a: Characteristics of Patients by Surgeons' Practice Style (Choice of IM verse OM), 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	us 65
Table 4.2.b: Patients Comorbidities by Surgeons' Practice Style (Choice of IM Versus OM), 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	66
Table 4.3.a: Characteristics of Patients by Surgeons' Modality Approaches (Choice of Bimodality versus Exclusive Inpatient or Outpatient), 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	67
Table 4.3.b: Patients Comorbidities by Surgeons' Modality Approaches (Choice of Bimodality versus Exclusive Inpatient or Outpatient), 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	68
Table 4.4: Provider Characteristics by Surgeons' Practice Styles, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	69
Table 4.5: Provide Characteristics by Surgeons' Modality Approaches, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	70
Table 4.6: Unadjusted Association between Patients Characteristics and by Surgeons' Practice Styles, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	71

Table 4.7: Unadjusted Association between Patient Characteristics and Surgeons'Modality Approaches, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	72
Table 4.8: Unadjusted Associations between Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	73
Table 4.9: Unadjusted Associations between Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	74
Table 4.10: Adjusted Association between Patients and Provider Characteristics and by Surgeons' Practice Styles, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	75
Table 4.11: Adjusted Association between Patient and Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID	77

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Physician pathway to patient care strategy developed by O'Neil and Kudar (2004) 36

Figure 2.2. Conceptual Framework: The relationship between patient, surgeon, and hospital characteristics and surgeon's choice of surgical style and pattern for mastectomy procedure 37

Figure 3.1 Surgeon's Choice of Surgical Modality

45

### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background

## 1.1.1 Breast Cancer Incidence and Risk Factors

Cancer is a group of diseases that cause cells in the body to change and grow out of control. Most types of cancer cells eventually form a lump or mass called a tumor and are named after the part of the body where the tumor originates [1]. Breast cancer typically is detected either during a screening examination, before symptoms have developed, or after symptoms have developed, when a woman feels a lump [1]. Most masses seen on a mammogram and most breast lumps are benign and non-cancerous. However, when cancer is suspected based on clinical breast exam or breast imaging, microscopic analysis of breast tissue is necessary for a definitive diagnosis and to determine the extent of spread (in situ or invasive) and to characterize the pattern of the disease [1]. Although breast cancer is often referred to as one disease, there are many different types of breast cancer based on where in the breast the disease started (e.g., milk ducts, lobules), how the disease grows, the characteristics of cancer cells determined by pathology, and other factors [2]. The most common type of breast cancer is ductal carcinoma, which begins in the cells of the ducts. Breast cancer can also begin in the cells of the lobules and other tissues in the breast. Invasive breast cancer is breast cancer that has spread from where it began in the ducts or lobules to surrounding tissue [2].

One important risk factor for breast cancer is age. A woman's risk of developing breast cancer increases as she gets older. The risk of breast cancer, however, is not the same for all women in a given age group [3]. Research has demonstrated that women with the following risk factors have an increased chance of developing breast cancer: genetic alterations or inherited changes in certain genes, radiation therapy to the chest (including the breasts) before age 30, alcohol intake, never having a child or having first full-term pregnancy after age 30, physical inactivity, white race, obesity, personal and family history of breast cancer, and family history of ovarian cancer [4-15].

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among American women, except for skin cancer. About 1 in 8 (12%) women in the U.S. will develop invasive breast cancer during their lifetime [16]. In the U.S., after increasing for more than 20 years, breast cancer incidence rates in women began decreasing in 2000 and dropped by about 7% from 2002 to 2003 [17, 18]. This large decrease was thought to be due to the decline in the use of hormone therapy after menopause that occurred after the results of the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) were published in 2002. The WHI study linked hormone therapy use to an increased risk of breast cancer and heart diseases [19, 20]. In recent years, incidence rates have been stable in white women, but have increased slightly in African American women [21]. In 2017, there will be an estimated 252,710 new cases of invasive breast cancer, 63,410 new cases of carcinoma in situ (CIS) which is non-invasive and the earliest form of breast cancer, and 40,610 breast cancer deaths in the U.S [8].

The chance that a woman will die from breast cancer is approximately 1 in 36 (about 3%) [22]. Death rates from breast cancer have been decreasing since 1989. This

decrease is believed to be the result of finding breast cancer earlier through screening and increased awareness, as well as better treatments [22]. However, breast cancer still is the second leading cause of cancer death among women in the U.S. after lung cancer [23]. Breast cancer poses a substantial medical and economic burden for women and their families, and accounts for 15% to 20% of all cancer costs and 1% of the total healthcare expenditure in the US health care system [24].

## 1.1.2 Breast Cancer Treatment

Surgical treatment of breast cancer has been described for centuries. Historical analysis of this treatment reveals that the efficiency and the extent of surgery have always been a source of controversy [25]. The primary treatment for non-metastatic breast cancer (stages 0 to III) is surgery (breast conserving surgery [BCS] or mastectomy) to remove the tumor. BCS, also known as lumpectomy, involves removing only the breast lump and some normal tissue around it. In contrast, mastectomy refers to removal of the entire breast [26]. In some cases, mastectomy is performed prophylactically (to prevent cancer from occurring) in women with a high risk of developing breast cancer [26]. A mastectomy procedure includes any therapeutic excisions of breast tissue. However, there are many different mastectomy techniques. Listed below are the most commonly performed mastectomy procedures.

#### Partial Mastectomy (Lumpectomy)

Lumpectomy also called partial mastectomy is breast-conserving operations in which the surgeon removes the tumor together with some normal breast tissue surrounding it. Breast-conserving procedures can often be done with local anesthesia and sedation or under general anesthesia and is usually performed on an outpatient basis. A partial mastectomy may also be known as a lumpectomy, quadrantectomy or segmental mastectomy [27].

#### Simple Complete Mastectomy

This procedure includes removal of all breast tissue, along with a portion of skin and nipple through an elliptical incision [27].

### Subcutaneous Mastectomy

This mastectomy procedure is similar to the simple complete mastectomy except that the extent of the excision is different. For a subcutaneous mastectomy the breast is dissected from the pectoral fascia and the skin. The breast tissue is removed, but the skin and pectoral fascia remain [27].

### Radical and Modified Radical Mastectomy

The most extensive of the mastectomy procedures, the radical mastectomy, involves dissection of the breast, overlying skin, the pectoralis major and minor muscles and the axillary lymph nodes, which are all removed as a single specimen. In a modified radical mastectomy, the structures listed above are excised, but the pectoralis major muscle (and possibly the pectoralis minor muscle) are spared [27].

When all or most of the breast tissue is removed, breast reconstruction surgery may be performed to rebuild the breast. Reconstruction may be performed at the time of the mastectomy or at a later time [26].

## 1.1.3 Breast Cancer Surgical Approaches

Currently, breast cancer surgeries (including BSC and mastectomy) can be performed on an inpatient or ambulatory basis. Outpatient procedures do not require an overnight hospital stay and patients may go home several hours after surgery. In general,

ambulatory surgery was initially limited to procedures performed under local or regional anesthesia, which required minimal postoperative monitoring. Anesthesia techniques and perioperative management have since evolved such that low-risk surgeries performed under general anesthesia can now also be performed in the ambulatory setting [28]. Patients undergoing breast cancer surgery seldom develop serious complications and most return to their preoperative function soon after the surgery, making them ideal candidates for ambulatory surgery [28]. However, many patients have been managed in the past as inpatients due to concerns about drain care and the lack of structured outpatient follow-up care. Currently, due to the adoption of sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB) as the standard of care and full axillary lymph nodal dissection (ALND), the use of surgical drains is less common. The decline in the use of drains together with the establishment of specialized breast units in many centers to provide continuity of care after hospital discharge has led to a greater push towards ambulatory breast cancer surgery [28]. Previous literature documents that breast cancer surgery, including quadrantectomies (removal of approximately one-fourth of the breast, including tissue surrounding a cancerous tumor), axillary lymphadenectomies (removal of the lymph nodes from the underarm or axill), simple or radical modified mastectomies, and sentinel lymph node biopsies, represents a good choice as an outpatient procedure "when it is superficial and does not imply any significant bleeding or electrolyte shifts" [29].

### 1.2 Significance

Previous studies show no evidence of differences in patient satisfaction between patients receiving outpatient mastectomy compared with those receiving inpatient surgery [30-32]. In addition, no differences between these two methods have been reported for patient outcomes such as readmission rate and intraoperative complications [29, 33]. Previous studies cite psychological effects as one of the greatest benefits for 'Outpatient Mastectomy' (OM) procedure, suggesting that OM patients experience faster healing and recovery at home within the family milieu [32]. Studies also have confirmed the costeffectiveness of OM vs inpatient procedures. In a study by McManus et al. [32], the outpatient cost was reported to be \$1,572 compared with an average 3-day inpatient cost of \$6,282, for a potential savings of \$4,710, or 75%, per patient for modified radical mastectomy [32]. In contrast, there is some evidence of decreased use of breast reconstruction following OM, suggesting that patients receiving OM may not receive adequate post-mastectomy care [34]. These advantages and disadvantages of OM versus IM suggest that there is no best surgical approach for mastectomy and the decision about the appropriate hospital length of stay after the procedure should be made on an individual basis.

In the past, the suitability of patients for outpatient procedures was based on tradition rather than being evidence-based [35]. Currently, identifying a patient's suitability for an ambulatory procedure is considered a dynamic process that depends on the complex interplay between patient characteristics (e.g., coexisting medical conditions), physician characteristics, and system characteristics [24, 25, 33, 36]. During the 1990s, the efforts of managed care organizations to minimize hospitalizations costs resulted in a significant increase in the rate of OM procedure in the U.S. (from 0% in 1986 to 10.8% of total U.S. mastectomies in 1995) [33]. However, after development of the Breast Cancer Patient Protection Act, the pressures from managed care organizations and insurance companies have significantly decreased [34]. The Breast Cancer Patient Protection Act prohibits insurance providers from limiting benefits for any hospital length of stay to less than 48 hours for a mastectomy or 24 hours for a lymph node dissection. The policy does not require that the patient stay in the hospital for the full 48 hours, only that the hospital stay be covered if deemed essential by the patient's surgeon [34]. Consequently, in almost all cases, the physician now decides if the patient needs to be admitted as an inpatient or outpatient for their mastectomy. Considering the role of physicians at the forefront of medical decision-making, policymakers are increasingly focused on physician decisions involving patient care, and recent research has attempted to understand why physicians might treat patients with a similar medical condition differently [37-39]. The present study extends prior research by examining patient and provider level factors that can influence breast surgeons' practice styles and modality approaches for mastectomy procedure.

### CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

### 2.1 Variations in Physicians' Practice Styles and Patterns

Differences in physicians' approaches in treating different patients with the same condition is called variation in treatment or practice pattern [40]. In other words, variation in treatment occurs when similar patients receive different treatments, or when in some hospitals or geographic areas patients are more likely to receive a certain procedure or treatment than in others. As a result, some patients may not get the treatment they need, or may get more than they need, which are both undesirable. Variations in physicians' practice styles have been found to be correlated with physician characteristics (e.g. age and specialty), practice organization and setting (e.g. hospital clinic and solo versus group practice), location (e.g. access to beds and technology), and patient characteristics (e.g. severity, insurance type, and race) [41-47]. Moreover, there has always been the suggestion that certain combinations of factors (clinical and nonclinical) are more likely than others to be associated with physicians' choice of treatment strategies. For example, physician residents in teaching hospitals have been shown to order more tests, across many diagnoses, than experienced physicians in the same specialty [48, 49].

Several explanations for patterns of medical practice variation have been suggested in the literature and most of the existing explanations are based on the idea that differences in behavior between people are explained by differences in their preferences

for certain behaviors [50]. The "practice style hypothesis", the most commonly accepted hypothesis, was generated by Wennberg and Gittelsohn in 1973 [51]. The hypothesis postulates that variations in utilization rates arise from differences in clinical judgment among physicians as to the appropriate forms of treatment [50]. According to the "practice style hypothesis", the explanation of variations in medical procedures consists of two parts. The first part focuses on the micro-level problem of the origins of widely differing practice styles among individual physicians. The second part concerns the explanation of differences between macro-level units, such as geographical areas, hospitals or insurance plans. The first part of the practice style theory argues that physicians differ in the type of procedures they apply because they have somehow learned to value them differently, and consequently adhere to a different practice style [50]. According to Wennberg and Gittelsohn, differences in practice style emerge because of uncertainty about the value of a certain level of medical care and of individual procedures [51]. As a result, the larger the professional uncertainty, the more possibilities for individual beliefs, and the more variation in observed practice styles [51]. In situations of diagnostic uncertainty, physicians usually will try to reduce their uncertainty, for example, by ordering more tests [50]. However, in the therapeutic phase, "there is no general strategy, such as doing more, but only a situational strategy: do as your direct colleagues do. Eddy referred to this strategy as the tendency to follow the pack" [50].

The second part of the "practice style hypothesis" explains that the mechanism that grows differences in utilization of treatment options between areas or hospitals is the selective attraction or retention of physicians in the local medical system [50]. According to Wennberg and Gittelsohn, "the rates of common surgical procedures" within an area (referred to hospitals) "constitute a `surgical signature' that tends to be consistent over many years, unless physicians leave the area or enter it" [51]. The present study measures the ability of both aspects of "practice style" theory, hospitals and surgeons, in addition to patient-level non-clinical factors to explain the variations in surgeons' practice styles and patterns.

2.2 Selection of Surgical Style for Breast Cancer Patients

Over the past 15 years, guidelines have been developed by consensus conferences at the National Institute of Health (NIH) to advise physicians about the vast literature on the treatment of breast cancer and variations in the use of different mastectomy or BCS techniques by patient and provider characteristics. However, there is no structured guideline to direct physicians on selecting inpatient versus outpatient breast cancer surgeries. To improve breast cancer treatment in community practice, it is essential to understand which types of patients may not be receiving a particular mastectomy treatment method with respect to modality (inpatient versus outpatient) and which types of providers (hospitals and physicians) may not be delivering such care. Most previous breast cancer studies have primarily investigated variations in physicians' practice patterns within specific diagnoses rather than across treatment decisions. In addition, studies with a focus on procedure decisions have investigated contributors to patient's choice of mastectomy or BCS procedures. However, no studies, to date, examined surgeons' practice styles and patterns and associated factors at the patient, physician, and system-level for mastectomy procedure. This study examines variations in breast surgeons' practice styles and patterns by patient and provider characteristics. In this

section, several patient-level, non-clinical factors related to the surgeons' choice of practice style for mastectomy procedure are discussed.

2.3 Patient-level Predictors of Surgeon's Choice of Surgical Style

The number of outpatient breast surgeries continues to increase in the U.S. For most breast procedures, both inpatient and outpatient modalities have demonstrated nearly equal rates of re-hospitalization for surgery-related complications, wound complications, 30-day readmission, and reoperation [30]. As a result, physicians' choice of style varies; however, patient characteristics can influence the surgeons' decision on selection of surgical modality.

Cancer stage is the most important clinical factor influencing the type of surgical procedure patient receives for all types of cancer including breast cancer. For women with early-stage breast cancer, undergoing a lumpectomy is as effective as having a mastectomy, and is usually performed as an outpatient procedure. In a study by Case et al., investigating the influence of payer and state on the use of OM, cancer stage was an important determinant. The authors found that the adjusted likelihood of receiving an OM was significantly lower if a woman had metastases [52]. Bian et al.[34] also postulated that patients with a more advanced stage of cancer at diagnosis were more likely to receive inpatient surgery. Moreover, cancer stage is an indicator of the severity of illness and can influence surgeons' decisions about selection of the appropriate method of surgery. On the other hand, cancer stage can shape surgeons practice style and signature gradually as it is possible that certain group of surgeons tend to see the sicker patients and those at more advanced stage of cancer. Based on previous studies, physicians who oversee a higher proportion of severe cases may be more vigilant,

experienced, and hence, comfortable with a particular method of treatment [53]. In addition, a high proportion of severely ill patients may affect physician's attention span and their ability to discuss medical information and treatment options with patients efficiently [54].

However, part of the variation in medical practice is due to non-medical factors [55-60]. Patient characteristics, such as patient preference, demographics, and socioeconomic status are considered the primary non-clinical predictors of patient choice of different surgical modality options [34]. However, no study has investigated non-clinical patient-level predictors of surgeons' choice of inpatient or outpatient style for mastectomy procedure.

## Patient Age

Breast cancer studies have provided consistent evidence of the existence of disparities in receiving treatment by patient age [61]. In general, older women are less likely than younger women to receive optimal local or surgical treatment for breast cancer [62]. Samet and colleagues conducted a study to examine the relationship between patient age and the use of potentially curative therapy for cancers of selected sites and acute leukemias using data on 22,899 cancer cases collected by the New Mexico Tumor Registry from 1969 through 1982. The researchers found that women age 75 and over were significantly less likely than younger women to receive definitive treatment for local-stage breast cancer [63]. In another study by Greenfield and colleagues conducted among 374 women in southern California who were diagnosed with stage I or II breast cancer from 1980 through 1982, 17% of patients aged 70 or older did not receive appropriate treatment compared with only 4% of patients under age 70 [64]. In their

study, increasing age was significantly associated with greater comorbidity and mortality among women with breast cancer. However, the researchers suggested physicians may be using age to limit treatment inappropriately, particularly among older adults who are otherwise healthy [64].

Contradictory results have been reported in the literature regarding the association between patient age and selection of surgical modality for mastectomy. According to a 2003 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality's (AHRQ) report, an OM generally is recommended for young women [36]. However, some previous studies have reported higher rates of OM procedure among women age 65 and over [34]. Ferrante et al. [58] used state discharge abstracts and the state tumor registry data to identify patients who had been diagnosed with breast cancer and treated with mastectomies in Florida in 1994, and found that OMs were more likely to be performed on women age 65 and over as compared to women younger than 65 years of age. Warren et al. [33] conducted a large population-based study to explore utilization trends and outcomes after OM in the U.S. Their study included all women aged 65 and older in the fee-for-service Medicare program between 1986 and 1995. These researchers found no significant association between patient age (75-84 and ≥85 versus 65-74 years of age) and the likelihood of undergoing OM in their study. However, as previously mentioned, this study only included older women. Given higher rates of breast cancer incidence among younger women (<65 years of age) [65, 66], it is possible that age differences in relation to the type of treatment may occur in these younger women. However, more studies of younger patients are needed to confirm this possible association.

### Patient Race

Variations in treatments have been found to be correlated with patient race [41-46]. For many clinical conditions, African-Americans are less likely than whites to receive newer or more technologically intensive medical services [67]. Racial differences in treatment can be due to subtle biases of physicians as well as racial cultural differences in patients' health beliefs and preferences [68]. A study of racial patterns of breast cancer treatment by McWhorter and Mayer reported that African-American women were less likely than white women to receive any surgical treatment for breast cancer [69]. Analyzing the care of 36,905 women in the SEER Program from 1978 through 1982, the authors reported that African-American women were 40% more likely than white women to receive non-surgical treatment and 70% more likely to receive no treatment [69].

Studies suggest that nonwhites are less likely to receive OM than their white counterparts [34]. Salasky et al. [70] examined differences in the use of OM based on patient race using data from 47,318 patients enrolled in the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Participant Use File who had undergone a mastectomy during the years 2007 to 2010. The authors indicated that more than half (62.6%) of mastectomies were performed in the outpatient setting. All racial minorities had lower rates of OM, with 63.8% of white patients, 59.1% of African-American patients, 57.4% of Asian, Native Hawaiian, or Pacific Islander patients, and 43.9% of American Indian or Alaska Native patients having had an OM. After adjusting for multiple factors, African-American patients, American Indian or Alaska Native patients, and those of unknown race were all less likely to undergo OM compared with white patients [70]. According to Warren et al.,[33] nonwhite patients were also much less likely to undergo outpatient modified radical mastectomy (removal of both breast tissue and lymph nodes) than white patients. There is little empirical literature examining the effect of ethnicity on OM utilization. In most previous studies on OM, patients who were classified as black Hispanic, white Hispanic, or unknown Hispanic were collapsed into the black, white, and unknown categories, respectively.

Of note, studies of racial variations in medical care, including treatment of breast cancer, have often had limited ability to control for socioeconomic factors such as income and insurance coverage. Such factors can be critical mediators of racial variations in care [71, 72].

## Income Level

No studies have examined a patient's educational and income level as predictors for the likelihood of undergoing OM or Inpatient Mastectomy (IM). There is a possibility that patients with low educational and income levels are more likely to undergo outpatient procedures, as they usually have a higher likelihood of being uninsured compared to patients with advanced educational attainment [58]. Nevertheless, it is impossible to conclude this from the limited available research.

#### Patient Residency

Access to health care services in rural versus urban areas has been explored by health services researchers for decades. However, there is limited empirical literature examining the relationship between patient residency and the likelihood of having an OM. Previous studies have demonstrated that rural residents are, on average, poorer, older, and less likely to be insured than persons living in urban areas [73, 74]. Rural Americans also report more chronic conditions and describe themselves in poorer health than urban residents [75]. According to these findings, it could be suggested that patients in rural areas are more likely to undergo OM than IM. However, more evidence is needed to confirm this association as there is a possibility that ambulatory settings or hospitals in rural areas are not prepared with facilitated operating rooms and specialized personnel for such a major procedure being performed as an outpatient.

## Comorbid Conditions

Comorbidity refers to the presence of diseases or conditions other than the one currently being treated. Most previous studies suggest that the patients' medical conditions greatly influence the type of procedure they receive [33]. In general, the decision on outpatient or inpatient care should be made on an individual basis. For every patient, the nature of any pre-existing condition, its stability (whether it is stable or degenerative), and the patient's functional limitations, needs to be evaluated [76]. Researchers emphasize that patients with a high burden of comorbidities (such as hypertension or diabetes) or advanced and/or metastatic cancer are more likely to have inpatient surgery whereas patients without these conditions are more likely to undergo outpatient procedures [33, 34]. However, no study, to date, has examined comorbidities as a predictor of surgeons' practice style for mastectomy.

### Health Insurance

Health insurance, especially managed care, is considered an increasingly important influence on the type of health care and services that patients receive and may in part explain some of the observed variation in breast cancer treatment and outcomes [77]. Most studies have found that patients who lack health insurance and those who are insured by Medicaid are less likely to receive the surgical treatment they need and have worse survival rates than patients who have commercial insurance [68, 78]. Moreover, some studies have found that patients who belong to an HMO may be less likely to receive surgical treatments and might have worse survival rates than those patients who have Medicare fee-for-service (FFS) forms of health insurance [77]. Insurance payer also has been shown to vary substantially by race and could possibly explain in part racial differences observed in the care and outcomes for women with breast cancer [79].

Although it is well established that the OM procedure is medically safe and feasible, it may not be appropriate for some patients. However, cost-conscious insurance companies may limit a patient's choice to OM procedures to lower hospital costs,[33] although, for some women, an overnight stay is not enough to begin their physical and emotional healing. In a study conducted by the AHRQ, the authors examined medical records from five US states (Colorado, Connecticut, Maryland, New Jersey, and New York) between 1990 and 1996, and concluded that women without health insurance or those who were Health Maintenance Organization members were 30% to 60% more likely to undergo OM procedures than women with health insurance, Medicare, or Medicaid coverage [52]. The researchers also examined the trends and patterns for OM in the five states and found a significant increase in the rate of OM in the late 1990s, in part because of pressures from insurance companies during those years to make OMs mandatory [52]. In contrast, Ferrante et al. [58] did not find any association between health insurance type and having an OM among patients who had been diagnosed with breast cancer and treated with mastectomies in Florida in 1994. However, their findings were consistent with other studies in demonstrating higher rates of OM among women without health insurance [58].

2.4 Provider-level Predictors of Surgeon's Choice of Surgical Style

Although patient demographics, health conditions, and patient preference play an important role in determining the suitability of surgical modality, physicians are increasingly recognized as critical contributors to the observed variation in the use of different treatment options. Physicians make key decisions about admitting and discharging patients, ordering imaging and diagnostic tests, and referring for procedures. Physicians can also indirectly influence the decision on surgical modality by the time they spend on consulting patients regarding surgical options [80]. Therefore, it is important to examine the physician characteristics that influence the use of different procedure options.

Moreover, most existing findings from health services research confirm that utilization of various treatments or procedures for a similar patient population varies widely between hospitals [81]. According to previous studies, characteristics of hospitals are often viewed as proxy measures of hospital practice patterns [82]. In a study by Kowalski and colleagues, the researchers investigated the variations in information provision to breast cancer patients by hospital characteristics. The authors used data from 5,024 newly-diagnosed breast cancer patients treated in 111 breast center hospitals in Germany in 2010 to examine variations in information provided by hospital characteristics [83]. The researchers found that differences between the hospitals characteristics account for some of the variations in information provision to patients. In hospitals that provide patient-specific information material as well as those that were non-teaching or had lower patient-volume, patients were less likely to report unmet information needs [83].

Previous studies have found that variations in a physician's medical practice are indeed related to the hospital in which physicians practice. According to Eddy [84], physicians will adapt to the usual practice in the hospital in which they treat patients, in order to avoid being criticized. Characteristics of the hospital or ambulatory setting, such as free-standing versus hospital-based ambulatory surgery center, teaching versus nonteaching, and for-profit versus nonprofit, deserves special attention as they influence physicians' ability to manage complex patients based on the availabilities of personnel and equipment. In addition, characteristics of the surgical setting can be associated with surgeons' practice styles as different settings have different recruitment policies [85]. Recruitment policies may be in favor of hiring physicians with particular practice style and preference. Warren et al. indicated that OMs were more likely to be performed in forprofit or nonteaching hospitals. Women treated in for-profit hospitals were 56% more likely to have OM than women treated in nonprofit hospitals [33]. A study by Case et al. [52] indicated that the likelihood of receiving an OM was 60% lower in a publicly funded hospital, however, this rate did not differ between private nonprofit and for-profit hospitals. In addition, Case et al. [52] found that women were less likely to receive an OM in a teaching hospital as compared to a nonteaching hospital. Further research is needed to assess such discrepancies in findings and the impact of hospital characteristics on the utilization of OM.

Decisions on the utilization of treatment options are ultimately made by frontline clinicians and not by hospitals [86]. However, the degree to which utilization decisions by individual physicians vary between hospitals, and the clinical implications of that variation, are unknown. To improve access, we need a better understanding of why variations exist and whether hospitals can influence shaping physicians' practice style or signature. In this section, several provider-level factors related to the surgeons' choice of practice style and modality approached for mastectomy procedure are discussed. *Surgeon Volume* 

According to volume-outcome studies, surgeon volume is defined as the number of procedures performed by the surgeon in a given timeframe (in most cases, annually) [87-90]. The impact of surgeons' volume on their practice styles and patterns can be viewed from three different perspectives. First, surgeon volume is an indicator of his/her experience. The more mastectomy cases are performed, the more experienced the surgeons become. However, higher experience can lead to surgeon's comfort with one particular surgical approach and shape surgeon's practice style/signature toward that method [53]. The second view concerns the time that surgeons spend with their patients to discuss different treatment options. Spending more time educating patients helps surgeons make their decisions primarily based on patient need and preference rather than their own experience, expertise, or comfort with one surgical approach [91]. Previous studies have demonstrated that the variation in time spent with patients is determined more by the individual physician characteristics such as demographics, experience, and volume of patients than by patient factors [92]. However, higher volume of patients can result in shorter visits and time spent with patients. Thirdly, previous studies on physician experience and patterns of service provision have revealed a trend towards greater provision of more comprehensive services with increasing patient numbers [93]. Highly experienced physicians are more likely to provide complex supportive services, basic clinical follow-up care such as regular tests, more specialized therapeutic care, and

palliative and home-based care [61]. Presumably, these groups of physicians are less likely to discharge patients the same day after a major surgery such as mastectomy. However, more evidence is needed to confirm this association.

A considerable body of research has explored the association between surgeon volume and patient outcomes (i.e., mortality, surgical complications) for many surgical procedures [94-98]. However, there is limited empirical literature examining the relationship between the likelihood of performing an OM or IM and surgeon volume. Using 1997 to 1998 data from Florida inpatient and outpatient settings, Luther and Studnicki [99] found that the mastectomy rate was higher among patients of low-volume surgeons compared with those of high-volume surgeons, largely because high-volume surgeons were more likely to perform BCS rather than mastectomy. However, their study did not demonstrate any significant results for the relationship between surgeon volume

### Hospital Teaching Affiliation

A teaching hospital is a hospital or medical center that provides clinical education and training to future and current health professionals. Teaching hospitals are often affiliated with medical schools and work closely with medical students throughout their period of matriculation, and especially during their internship years [100]. Every year, over 50% of all patients admitted to hospitals in the U.S. are admitted to a teaching facility even though teaching hospitals constitute only 24 % of all American Hospital Association registered hospitals [101]. In most cases, teaching hospitals also offer Graduate Medical Education (GME)/ physician residency programs, where medical school graduates are trained under a supervising (attending) physician to assist with the coordination of care. In addition to offering medical education to medical students and physician residents, many teaching hospitals also serve as research institutes [100]. In teaching hospitals, surgical residents and students participate in operations and, to varying degrees, care for the patients in the postoperative period [100].

Some studies using patient satisfaction surveys have demonstrated that in teaching hospitals, patients in need of complex procedures are concerned that having surgical residents or medical students involved in their care may result in adverse outcomes [102-104]. On the other hand, studies have shown that for common conditions, teaching hospitals offer a lower quality of care than do nonteaching hospitals [68]. Besides, substantial involvement of inexperienced trainees and the attenuated role of senior physicians in teaching hospitals can result in more fragmented and less appropriate care [68]. In contrast, patient outcome studies have reported better care and outcomes associated with teaching hospitals for many complex procedures including breast cancer surgeries due to: a) a higher volume of cases, b) more advanced technology, c) the expanded role of specialists, or d) the greater availability of resident physicians for a more timely assessment of severely ill patients [68]. Moreover, the standard of care in a teaching hospital is often considered to be superior to non-teaching hospitals as they attract the very best of teaching staff [68].

Differences in hospital teaching status have been reported to impact physician's treatment choices [105, 106].\_Teaching hospitals are expected to focus on providing the "right" treatment without considering the insurance type of the patient or other patient-level factors. In addition, residents who train at hospitals that emphasize patient preferences and shared decision-making learn to give patients the information they need

to make the best decisions based on patient needs rather than their own preferences [106]. However, teaching hospitals have their own style and culture of practice that represents a training curriculum. As a result, teaching status of the hospital can influence a physician's practice signatures as in teaching hospitals, residents/students learn from their mentors and model their mentors' practice behaviors or judgemnts [106]. Hence, they are influenced by the practice styles of mentors and peers.

However, regardless of where physicians train, young physicians must strive to elicit the preferences of patients in order to always perform the right procedure on the right patient at the right time. Moreover, understanding the relation of hospital teaching status to the utilization of different treatment options can help guide efforts to improve access to both types of hospitals. To date, there is a paucity of literature examining the influence of teaching status of the hospital on surgeons' choice of mastectomy surgical approaches.

#### Hospital Ownership Status

The U.S. hospital industry includes a mix of ownership forms. Non-profit hospitals are the most common type, but for-profit and government hospitals also play substantial roles in the industry [107]. A non-profit hospital, or not-for-profit hospital, is a hospital which is organized as a non-profit corporation. Non-profit hospitals are mostly funded by charity, religion or research/educational funds [107]. Non-profit hospitals do not pay federal income, state, or local property taxes, and in return they benefit the community. For-profit systems benefit from investors' money and have more flexibility about which services they offer, often seeking more profitable ones [107]. Generally, the opponents of the for-profit facilities are concerned that for-profit hospitals focus mostly
on financial metrics such as improving payer mix and increasing volume, shunning disadvantaged patients and paying less attention to the provision of high-quality care [108].

The majority of hospitals in the U.S. operate as nonprofit organizations. In 2003, of the roughly 3,900 nonfederal, short-term, acute care general hospitals in the U.S., about 62% were nonprofit. The rest included government hospitals (20%) and for-profit hospitals (18%) [109]. Between 1992 and 2007, for example, not-for-profit hospitals controlled, on average, 59.26% of all hospital beds in the country [109]. Ownership of hospitals in the U.S. has been trending away from not-for-profit or government ownership and towards increased for-profit ownership over the last fifty years. For example, between 1970 and 2005 approximately 7% of the roughly 5,000 not-for-profit hospitals changing ownership status, for-profit hospitals are growing in size relative to not-for-profits. In the past, the average not-for-profit hospital used to operate three times as many beds as the average for-profit hospital, however, as of 2000 this gap has decreased to the extent that not-for-profits operate only 32% more beds than their for-profit competitors [110].

Studies have found some differences between nonprofit and for-profit hospitals in patient outcomes and type of services the hospitals provide, although it is not always clear if the distinctions are related to the ownership type or other factors. A study by Aiken and colleagues in 2000 reported higher mortality rates among elderly patients with heart disease in for-profit centers than nonprofit hospitals [111]. However, according to the authors, much of the difference appeared to be related to location, rather than the type

24

of ownership. The relationship between hospital ownership and patient access, morbidity, and satisfaction has also received considerable attention during the last decades [112-114]. However, researchers have not previously looked broadly at whether any hospital type is more or less likely to accord different treatments given patient's insurance type and other characteristics. According to previous studies, physicians in for-profit hospitals see fewer numbers of patients on hospital rounds compared to non-profit hospitals [115]. According to these findings, it could be suggested that lower patient volume can be attributed to spending more time with patients and greater provision of information, hence making decisions based on patient needs rather than physician preference. On the other hand, it could also be argued that low volume surgeons who tend to work at forprofit hospitals do not have the experience or confidence in performing different methods of surgeries. However, even with these contradictory evidence, the relationship between the differences in physicians' practice styles and patterns and the characteristics of their practice settings remain poorly understood and the policy implications of this relationship are widely disputed and unclear.

#### Hospital Size and Case Volume

Hospital size usually is measured by its number of beds. An oversupply of beds makes it easier to admit and readmit patients [116]. Although admission to hospitals depends primarily on physicians' opinions about necessity and the available supply of beds, the probability of being hospitalized or admitted to the hospital is significantly related to the capacity of the hospital compared to the size of the population it serves [117]. The more hospital beds there are per capita, the greater the likelihood the patient will be admitted.

Contradictory results have been reported regarding the association between hospital size and patient outcomes and quality of services provided by hospitals. Callaway and colleagues examined whether patient survival after cardiac arrest was related to hospital characteristics [118]. The researchers performed a secondary analysis of data from a randomized, prospective, multicenter, intention-to-treat, Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest (OHCA) clinical trial. The study results showed that a total of 4,087 OHCA subjects were treated at 254 hospitals, and 32% survived to hospital discharge. Survival was not associated with hospital bed number, teaching status or trauma center designation [118]. Another study, a meta-analysis of 21 empirical studies by Lee and Xia found that organizational size influence diffusion and innovation adoption [119]. This study found that Information Technology (IT) innovation adoption was slower in smaller organizations because of their lack of capital to invest in information technology. However, it is hypothesized that smaller hospitals can more quickly diffuse and implement more innovative and effective process standards across their organization compared to the lag of diffusion within larger system-owned hospitals [119]. It is also reported that smaller and rural hospitals have a closer relationship with the population within its medical service area which causes higher consumer satisfaction [120]. As a result, it is possible to assume that in smaller hospitals, physicians' decisions on treatment options are more likely to be made based on patient preference, however, more evidence is needed to confirm this assumption. In addition, hospital size can be considered as an indicator of hospital volume and, therefore, can influence the practice styles of physicians. However, like most hospital characteristics, its influence on shaping physicians' practice signatures remains poorly understood.

Previous cancer studies have revealed that patients undergoing complex cancer operations in low-volume hospitals tend to have increased perioperative and long-term morbidity and mortality [121]. This phenomenon has been documented in malignancies of the colon [122], pancreas [123], esophagus [124], lung [125], stomach, breast, soft tissues, and rectum [126]. Elixhauser and colleagues studied the case volume, mortality, and associated hospital and staffing characteristics of ten complex procedures in U.S. hospitals using the 2000 Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) Nationwide Inpatient Sample. The researchers found that mortality rates were significantly higher at low-volume hospitals for five procedures (CABG, coronary angioplasty, pancreatic and esophageal cancer surgery, and cerebral aneurysm surgery) [127]. Some other studies have demonstrated that volume may be a proxy for other explanatory variables, such as other organizational characteristics (teaching and profit status, hospital location, processes of care, the expertise of staff, and ratios of staff to patients) [128]. According to these studies, some low-volume hospitals have outcomes comparable to those of highvolume hospitals and some high-volume hospitals have poor outcomes. Therefore, hospital volume is not the sole explanatory variable [129].

Hospital case volume can influence surgeons'/physicians' practice styles as it can decrease time spent with patients to discuss their different treatment options. High volume hospitals also tend to admit more complex cases or patients with higher cancer stages, which may result in shaping a particular modality approach among surgeons within those hospitals. However, the impact of hospital volume on shaping physicians' practice styles and patterns has received little attention.

## Hospital Location

It has been reported that 72 million Americans live in rural areas and depend upon the hospital serving their community as an important, and often only, source of care [130]. The nation's nearly 2,000 rural community hospitals frequently serve as an anchor for their region's health-related services, providing the structural and financial support for physician practice groups, health clinics and post-acute and long-term care services. In addition, these hospitals often provide essential, related services such as social work and other types of community outreach [131].

Rural hospitals usually tackle challenges due to their often remote geographic location, small size, limited workforce, and constrained financial resources. Moreover, rural hospitals' low-patient volumes make it difficult for these organizations to manage the high fixed costs associated with operating a hospital [132]. This in turn makes them particularly vulnerable to policy and market changes, and to Medicare and Medicaid payment cuts [132]. Rural hospitals typically are much smaller than their urban and suburban counterparts; nearly half have 25 or fewer beds [131]. Although rural hospitals make up half of all hospitals, they only represent about 12% of spending on hospital care. Despite a smaller size and smaller base of patients to draw from, rural hospitals still have to maintain a broad range of basic services to meet the health care needs of their communities [131]. But with fewer patients over which to spread fixed expenses, costs per case tend to be higher [132]. Rural hospitals have seen a dramatic shift from inpatient to outpatient care as technology and practice patterns have changed and specialized inpatient services have remained concentrated in urban areas [132]. Since rural hospitals are often the sole site for patient care in the community, they also are more likely to offer additional services that otherwise would not be accessible to residents. For example, many rural hospitals provide hospice, home health services, skilled nursing, adult day care, and assisted living [132]. Often, rural hospitals step in to offer these services out of a sense of community responsibility, as stand-alone providers may have trouble keeping their doors open in low-volume, isolated areas of the country [132].

The location of physician practice is a significant predictor of physician practice style as it relates to the supply of health care resources [133]. Physicians practicing in geographically isolated environments face a number of organizational problems which may influence their ability to provide appropriate treatments: (1) shortages of health professionals, especially specialists; (2) limited available technology; (3) insufficient patient volume; and 4) inadequate continuing education [134]. According to previous studies, medical services provided in rural areas is substantially lower than those provided in urban regions, and the disparities in the availability of hospitals and physicians are the main contributors to such urban rural differences in accessing health care services [135]. In a study by Weiner and colleagues conducted to examine the factors associated with better attainment of quality standards for elderly patients with diabetes, the authors found that even after adjustment for patient mix and physician characteristics, patients of rural hospitals were less likely to receive ambulatory services that met recommended quality criteria than patients of urban hospitals [136].

2.5 Summary and Study Significance

For many decades, it has been understood that physicians treating similar patients often come to different conclusions about how to best treat the patient's condition [51]. This occurs most frequently when there are different treatment options available that lead

to a preferred patient outcome. This is known as the 'variations in practice' phenomenon and has several major policy and cost implications [57].

It is widely acknowledged that variations in medical practice exist. It is within this context that variations in primary care with regard to diagnoses, ordering of diagnostic tests, referral rates, and drug prescribing [137, 138], as well as in secondary care (hospital admissions, decisions on surgery, diagnostic procedures, and length of stay) [139, 140] has received special attention. The literature demonstrates that variations in physicians' practice styles are not random and clear patterns of variation in styles exist [60, 141]. Previous studies highlight an association between patient needs and preferences, physician demographic and experience, and hospital characteristics and utilization of different treatment options [30]. However, all these factors may be influenced by surgeon preference of practice style. There is evidence that most women follow surgeons' recommendations, their primary source of information about treatment options. For example, in a study by Kotwall and colleagues [142], the authors examined clinicopathologic factors and patient perceptions associated with surgical breastconserving treatment versus mastectomy and found that 93% of the patients said their surgeon was the primary source of information regarding treatment options. Their study findings also indicate that surgeons recommended a specific treatment option in 69% of cases; in 89% of these cases they suggested mastectomy and in 11% BCS. The rates of compliance with these recommendations were reported to be 93% and 89%, respectively [142].

Variations in physicians' practice styles and patterns can be explained by differences in the characteristics of the patients they treat, characteristics of physicians

themselves, and the characteristics of the hospital in which physicians treat their patients. In the case of mastectomy surgery, some surgeons may perform exclusively ambulatory procedures which require less postoperative monitoring while others may prefer inpatient surgical style due to concerns about post-operative complications. There are also surgeons who perform both types of modalities for mastectomy. Surgeons who choose an exclusive approach obtain more experience and specialization in that particular method. However, with an exclusive approach, it is possible that surgeons make their decisions on treatments based on their comfort and experience with that particular approach regardless of patient preference and needs. The optimal treatment requires good communication between patient and provider and making decisions on the appropriate method based on patient need and preference, and not surgeon's preference, expertise, or comfort with one particular style. With following an exclusive method of treatment or surgery, physicians may automatically alter patients' decision toward that particular choice. No single study has ever investigated a surgeon's preference of surgical modalities for mastectomy procedures. Most researchers in the field have concentrated on inpatient and outpatient BCS procedures rather than mastectomy. However, the current study will focus exclusively on mastectomy procedures as almost all BCS surgeries are now being performed on an ambulatory basis. The present study investigates the non-clinical factors associated with surgeons' styles or "surgical signatures" for mastectomy procedures (inpatient versus outpatient). The current study also examines the non-clinical predictive factors of each practice modality including: exclusive approaches of IM and OM and bimodal approach (performing both inpatient and outpatient) for mastectomy procedures at the patient, physician, and system level.

2.6 Objectives and Hypotheses

The overall objective of the study is to examine 1) non-clinical predictive factors of practice style selected by surgeons in mastectomy cases and 2) the patient, surgeon, and system level non-clinical factors associated with a surgeon's choice of exclusive inpatient and outpatient versus bimodality approach for mastectomy procedures. The specific objectives and hypotheses are:

**Objective 1:** To evaluate patient characteristics to predict surgeon's practice style and modality approaches for mastectomy procedure

**H1.1**: Patients with minority race and patients who have private insurance have higher odds of having their mastectomy performed by surgeons with outpatient mastectomy preference.

**H1.2**: Older, rural, and racial minority patients, and patients who have private insurance have higher odds of having their mastectomy performed by 'exclusive outpatient' or 'exclusive inpatient' surgeons.

**Objective 2:** To explore the relationship between surgeon volume and selection of practice style for mastectomy procedure

**H2.1:** High volume surgeons are less likely to use the outpatient mastectomy approach compared to low volume surgeons.

**H2.2:** High volume surgeons have lower odds of being among 'exclusive outpatient' or 'exclusive inpatient' surgeons.

**Objective 3:** To examine hospital characteristics to predict surgeon's choice of mastectomy surgical style

**H3.1:** Non-teaching and for-profit hospitals, and hospitals with high-volume (total discharges and mastectomy volume) have higher odds of having mastectomies performed by surgeons who prefer to use an outpatient approach.

**H3.2**: Non-teaching and for-profit hospitals have higher odds of having mastectomies performed by 'exclusive outpatient' or 'exclusive inpatient' surgeons.

#### CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

#### 3.1 Conceptual Framework

I hypothesize that patients with different demographic and clinical characteristics can have different choices of surgeons with different surgical styles. Moreover, surgeons with different case volume can have different preferences for modalities. In addition, hospitals with different organizational characteristics may hire, work, or collaborate with surgeons with different style preferences. The first part investigates the non-clinical factors associated with surgeon's choice of surgical style/signature. The second part explores the non-clinical predictive factors associated with surgeons' modality approaches in choosing bimodality versus exclusive inpatient or outpatient approaches for mastectomy cases.

The physician propensity framework developed by O'Neill and Kuder [40] (Figure 2.1) has served as a foundation for the conceptual framework for this study. The framework demonstrates that there are three sets of variables that are likely to influence variations in physicians' clinical decisions about treatment approaches (Figure 2.1). In the original framework, stage 1 refers to physician characteristics and "general or baseline heuristic decision structure" for clinical cases of the same type. These general heuristic factors such as physician's philosophical perspective, strategic style, and perceived role regarding the patient's problem form the clinical basis for decisions regardless of the setting or the specific characteristics of the patient. For example, because of experience and educational differences, some physicians may be more inclined to choose a particular method of treatment. This baseline heuristic decision is presumed to largely reflect the physician's medical training, experience, and personal preferences. Stage 2 of the model refers to environmental characteristics of the physician practice setting. According to the physician propensity framework, the environment can influence practice-specific decisions as the organizational structure and the availability of resources can be expected to cause adjustment to the baseline heuristic decision. For example, a group practice setting with consultations between physicians is likely to develop different treatment styles than a solo practice [143]. Stage 3 refers to individual patients as contributors to variations in physicians' practice patterns. Here physicians are likely to adjust their strategy on the basis of the specific clinical condition of the patient (severity of the signs and symptoms, comorbidities, patient demographics, and patient preference).

The modified version of the propensity framework used for the purpose of the current study (Figure 2.2) incorporates the following elements: patient characteristics, operating surgeon characteristics, and hospital characteristics. The interactions and interrelationships between these patient and provider characteristics lead to certain outcomes of surgical care, in this case defined as 1) surgeon's choice of practice style (inpatient versus outpatient) for mastectomy procedure and 2) variations in surgeons' modality approaches in mastectomy cases (exclusive inpatient, exclusive outpatient, and mixed method). Figure 2.2 provides a succinct view of the framework and highlights the areas of research to be examined by the current study to provide better understanding of

the non-clinical factors that predict surgeons' practice styles and patterns for mastectomy procedure.



Figure 2.1. Physician pathway to patient care strategy developed by O'Neil and Kudar (2004)



Figure 2.2. Conceptual Framework: The relationship between patient, surgeon, and hospital characteristics and surgeon's choice of surgical style and pattern for mastectomy procedure

3.2 Data Sources

This pooled cross-sectional study used several sources of retrospective administrative data to examine the research questions:

- 2013 Florida Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality's (AHRQ) Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP)-State Ambulatory Surgery Database (SASD)
- 2013 Florida Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality's (AHRQ) Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP)-State Inpatient Data (SID)
- 3. Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA) Database

A common physician and/or hospital identifier contained in all data files listed above allowed these various sources to be linked. Detailed descriptions of the data files are given below.

#### State Inpatient Data

State Inpatient Data (SID) is part of the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) sponsored by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). Data contained in the HCUP databases are collected through a variety of sources that include state and federal data collection agencies along with hospital and other private data [144]. The HCUP databases including, SID, SASD, and State Emergency Department Databases (SEDD), provide complete information on all hospital discharges, ambulatory surgeries, and Emergency Room (ER) visits. Each record contains patient demographic information, hospital and county identifier, diagnoses, procedures, discharge status, length of stay, total charges and payment source. HCUP is a family of health care databases and related software tools developed through a federal-state-industry partnership to build a multistate health data system for health care research and decision making [144]. SID is a set of hospital databases from data organizations in participating states. The SID encompasses about 97% of all U.S. community hospital discharges (Table 3.1). For the purpose of this research, 2013 Florida HCUP-SID data were used to identify IM procedures [145].

#### State Ambulatory Surgery Database

The State Ambulatory Surgery Database (SASD) is also a part of HCUP

databases, and captures 100% of ambulatory procedures performed on the same day in

which patients are admitted and released [145] (Table 3.1). For the purpose of this study,

2013 Florida HCUP-SASD were used to identify OM records.

The mastectomy procedures were identified using calendar year 2013 Florida combined HCUP SID and SASD discharge records. The procedure codes in the dataset were based on ICD-9-CM coding.

Variable name	Variable description	Code/values
Patient age	Patient's age in years at admission	Numeric, continuous
Patient race	Race of patient	Numeric, nominal
	-	1. White
		2. Black
		3. Hispanic
		4. Asian or Pacific Islander
		5. Native American
		6. Other
Pay source	Principal pay code	Numeric, nominal
•		1) Medicare
		2) Medicaid
		3) Private insurance
		4) Self-Pay
		5) No charge
		6) Other

Table 3.1: List of Variables Obtained from SID/SASD Databases

Table 3.1 (continued)			
Variable name	Variable description	Codes/values	
Patient residency	Patient location	Numeric, nominal 1) Urban 2) Large rural town 3) Small rural town 4) Isolated rural	
Patient income	Quartile classification of the estimated median household income of residents in the patient's ZIP Code	Numeric, ordinal 1) 0-25th percentile 2) 26th to 50th percentile 3) 51st to 75th percentile 4) 76th to 100th percentile	
Diagnosis code	A code representing a condition that is related to the services provided during the hospitalization excluding external cause of injury codes. ICD-9-CM code	Alphanumeric	
Procedure code	The ICD-9-CM code identifying all significant procedures other than principal procedure.	Alphanumeric	
DRG	Diagnosis Related Group (DRG) from federal (CMS)Grouper	Numeric	
MD operating	Unique operating or performing physician identification number. The Florida license number of the medical doctor, osteopathic physician, dentist, podiatrist, chiropractor, or advanced registered nurse practitioner who had primary responsibility for the procedure	Alphanumeric	
Hospital identifier	Unique HCUP hospital identification number. The same identification codes as defined by the American Hospital Association Annual Survey of Hospitals	Alphanumeric	

#### Agency for Health Care Administration

The Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA) routinely collects administrative data from hospitals and ambulatory (outpatient) surgery centers and is a national leader in providing health care data and information [146]. The Florida AHCA created the Florida Health Finder website to provide Florida residents, professionals, and researchers with healthcare service information and data. The website includes comparisons of hospitals, ambulatory (same-day) surgery centers, healthcare plans, nursing homes, and prescription drug prices. The website also provides information on hospital profiles which include ownership, number of beds, hospital healthcare services/characteristics, mortality rates for inpatient procedures and conditions, and the number of procedures done in each area [146] (Table 3.2). Unique hospital identifiers from the combined SID/SASD data were matched with AHCA number, and hospital characteristics information were verified through the AHCA online database for final accuracy and data validation.

 Table 3.2: List of Hospital Characteristics Variables Obtaining from SID/SASD &

 AHCA Databases

Variable name	Variable description	Code/values
Hospital identifier	Unique HCUP hospital identification number	Alphanumeric
Institution name	Name of hospital	Character
Institution type	Whether a hospital or free standing or ambulatory	Character
	surgery center	
Institution address	Address (street and unit number)	Character
Institution county	Address (name of the county)	Character
Institution zip code	Address (zip)	Numeric
Ownership status	Type of hospital's ownership	Numeric, nominal
-		0) Not-for-profit
		1) For-profit
Teaching status	Whether the hospital is a teaching hospital	Numeric, nominal
C		0) Teaching
		1) Non-teaching
Total discharges	Total number of discharges from each hospital as an	Numeric, nominal
	indicator for volume	
Bed size	Assesses the number of short-term acute beds in a	Numeric, continuous
	hospital	

# 3.3 Human Subject Protection

Although the study uses de-identified data, approval of the UNC Charlotte

Institutional Review Board (IRB) was obtained (Protocol # 16-1040).

Study Population

Using the Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) codes and International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision (ICD-9-CM), the study population were restricted to patients who underwent a mastectomy (inpatient or outpatient) procedure in 2013 (CPT codes for OM: 19303,19304, 19305, and 19307) (ICD-9-CM codes for inpatient mastectomy: 8540, 8541, 8542, 8543, 8544, 8545, 8546, 8547, and 8548). Previous studies have examined the validity of the above coding for mastectomy procedures [147]. The Florida 2013 HCUP-SID and SASD datasets were combined and commercial software from Ingenix, Inc. was used to cross-reference the ICD-9-CM codes from the inpatient data source with the CPT-4 codes from the outpatient database in order to have clinically homogenous categories for various types of mastectomy procedures (Table3.3). Operating surgeons were identified using the unique physician identification number contained in the "MDoperating" field of the SASD and SID data. Previous research has indicated the reliability of this approach in identifying operating surgeons [148, 149].

Procedure	Procedure Description	СРТ	ICD9
Simple complete	Removal of all entire breast tissue, along with a	19303	85.41
mastectomy	portion of skin and nipple through an elliptical		85.42
U	incision.		
Subcutaneous	The breast tissue is removed, but the skin and	19304	85.33
mastectomy	nectoral fascia remain	1900.	85 34
masteetomy	peetotai taseta ternam.		85.35
			85.36
Dadical	Disposition of the broast overlying skin the posterolic	10205	05.50 05.45
	Dissection of the ofeast, overlying skin, the pectorans	19303	05.45
mastectomy	major and minor muscles and the axillary lymph		85.40
	nodes, which are all removed as a single specimen.	1000	05.45
Urban radical	Radical mastectomy + removal of both axillary and	19306	85.47
mastectomy	internal mammary lymph nodes.		85.48
	For an inpatient visit, an Urban type of complex		
	mastectomy is considered an "extended radical		
	mastectomy		
Modified radical	This procedure is less extensive than radical	19307	85 43
mastectomy	mastectomy. This procedure involves removal of	19507	85 44
masteetomy	entire breast tissue (skin areals ninnle) and avillary		05.11
	lymph nodes. The pactoralis minor muscle may or		
	mount has removed however the nexternlic major		
	may not be removed, nowever, the pectorans major		
	muscle is not removed.		
	For an inpatient visit, a modified radical mastectomy		
	is considered an extended simple mastectomy.		

Table 3.3: Mastectomy Procedure ICD-9 code to CPT Mapping

#### 3.4 Dependent Variables/Outcome Measures

There are two main outcomes for this study. The first outcome is surgeon's choice of practice style, inpatient versus outpatient for mastectomy procedure. Modality approaches selected by breast surgeons is the second outcome variable of the study.

Combined data from 2013 Florida SID and SASD were used to identify both

outcomes. The first outcome is a dichotomous variable with the 'inpatient vs 'outpatient'

practice style categories. In order to construct the surgeon practice style variable,

surgeons initially were categorized into four groups: 1) surgeons who performed 100%

OM 2) those who operated 100% IM, 3) those who performed predominantly OM (>50% of their procedures were OM), and 4) those who predominantly did IM (>50% of their procedures were IM). Surgeons with the exact same number of IM and OM (50% each) (62 surgeons, n=312) and those with only one procedure on their record were excluded (surgeons n=213 and procedure n=213) to allow creation of the above four groups. In the next step, surgeons were classified into two groups of style preference: IM and OM style surgeons. Those surgeons who performed 100% IM or mostly performed IM were categorized into the 'IM style preference' group and those who chose 100% OM or mostly OM in their mastectomies were grouped into the 'OM style preference' category.

To obtain the second outcome, surgeons were categorized into three groups based on their modality approaches: 1) 'exclusive IM' surgeons who exclusively perform inpatient mastectomy, 2) 'exclusive OM' surgeons who exclusively operate mastectomies as outpatient, and 3) 'bimodal' surgeons who use both styles for mastectomy procedure. Surgeons with the exact same number of IM and OM were initially included for the second outcome. However, since the magnitude of the findings did not differ when this same group of surgeons was excluded from the analyses, these surgeons (n=62) and procedures (n=312) were ultimately removed from consideration to allow for the same sample population to be studied across the two outcomes.

Figure 3.1 illustrates the surgeon group categorization. The 'only inpatient' surgical modality group consists of surgeons who only performed mastectomies on an inpatient basis and did not have any records of OM in 2013. The 'only outpatient' modality group includes surgeons who performed mastectomies only on an outpatient basis. The group 'bimodal' consists of surgeons who used both methods (IM and OM) in

their surgeries, however, their style preferences may lean toward one method.



Figure 3.1 Surgeon's Choice of Surgical Modality

# 3.5 Independent/Predictor Variables

# Patient Characteristics

Patient characteristics of interest in this study include: demographic factors such as age (categorical), race/ethnicity (categorical), pay source (categorical), median household income (categorical), urban vs. rural residency (dichotomous) and binary indicators for 30 comorbidities (Table 5). All of the above listed variables are included in both the SID and SASD datasets except comorbidities. To generate comorbidities, the Elixhauser comorbidity software, version 3.5 developed by Elixhauser and colleagues were obtained from the AHRQ [150]. The extensive body of literature has examined the adequacy of administrative data for measurement of comorbidity and risk adjustment [151]. Only some of the 30 comorbidities were included in the analysis based on their clinical relevance. These comorbidities were: congestive heart failure (CHF), valvular disease, peripheral vascular disease, hypertension, neurological disorders, chronic pulmonary disease, diabetes, hypothyroidism, renal failure, deficiency anemias, rheumatoid arthritis, obesity, psychoses, and depression. All of these conditions were selected based on the chronicity of their nature and evidence for increased risk for surgery [18, 19, 152-154].

It is well-documented that the presence of comorbidities in patients with cancer is negatively associated with patients' health outcomes. Poorer survival from cancer also has been found in breast cancer patients with comorbidities compared to those without [155]. Furthermore, studies have found that the prevalence of comorbidities is higher among cancer patients than those individuals without cancer [156]. In most breast cancer studies, the most prevalent comorbidities associated with breast cancer were hypertension, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), rheumatologic disease, decreased bone mass, diabetes mellitus, obesity, depression, and other psychiatric problems [155, 157]. Increased risk of development of comorbidities among cancer patients has been reported to be associated in part with the effects of cancer treatment [156].

Variable description	Codes/Values
Congestive Heart Failure	1= Yes, 0= No
Valvular Disease	1 = Yes, $0 = $ No
Peripheral Vascular Disease	1 = Yes, 0 = No
Hypertension	1 = Yes, $0 = $ No
Other Neurological Disorders	1 = Yes, 0 = No
Chronic Pulmonary Disease	1 = Yes, $0 = $ No
Diabetes	1 = Yes, $0 = $ No
Hypothyroidism	1 = Yes, 0 = No
Renal failure	1 = Yes, 0 = No
Deficiency anemias	1 = Yes, $0 = $ No
Rheumatoid Arthritis	1 = Yes, $0 = $ No
Obesity	1 = Yes, $0 = $ No
Psychoses	1 = Yes, $0 = $ No
Depression	1 = Yes, $0 = $ No

Table 3.4 Patient Existing Comorbidities (Elixhauser Comorbidities Based on ICD-9-CM Codes)

All patient characteristic variables were coded as categorical variables. As listed in Table 3.5, age was categorized into the following groups :<40 (referent), 40-59, and  $\geq$ 60. The race variable further was categorized into four groups: white, African-American, Hispanic, and other races. Moreover, type of insurance was classified into four categories: Medicare, Medicaid, private insurance, and other types of pay sources. In the HCUP data, income level is categorized into quartiles ranging from the lowest income to the highest income based on median household income at the zip code level. This categorization was retained for this study. Patient location was classified as urban or rural residency. White race, lowest income level, Medicare, urban residency were the referent groups for these variables.

## Surgeon Volume

Surgeon procedure volume was measured as the total number of mastectomy cases performed by each surgeon during the year 2013. Surgeons were categorized into three groups based on their total patient volume: low (<10), medium (10-19), and high

(≥20). This classification was selected based on the common surgeon volume categorization in previous volume outcome studies of breast cancer treatment [99, 158, 159].

#### Hospital Characteristics

Hospital characteristics of interest included teaching status, ownership status (not-forprofit and for-profit), bed size, hospital mastectomy volume, hospital total discharges volume, and hospital location (Table 7). Hospital-level data were obtained through linkage with the 2013 American Hospital Association survey database. Next, information was verified within the AHCA online database. To obtain the hospital mastectomy volume variable, the hospitals were sorted by their total mastectomy patient volume using the unique hospital identifiers in this database and by their caseload of mastectomy patients. The volume category cutoff points (high, medium, and low) were determined by sorting the 6,413 patients into 3 groups of approximately equal size: low, medium, and high volume categories. The same calculation was conducted for hospital total discharge volume and bed size. Hospital location (urban vs. rural) was verified using the Florida Rural Hospital Directory provided by the Florida Department of Health [160]. Previous research has indicated the reliability of this approach in identifying hospital location [161]. For hospital mastectomy and total discharge volume, the referent category was low volume hospital, for teaching status - teaching hospitals, for ownership status - notfor-profit hospitals, for bed size – small hospitals, and for location – urban hospitals.

Variable	Definition
Patient age	<40
	40- 59
	$\geq 60$
Patient race	White
	Black
	Hispanic
	Other
Pay source	Medicare
2	Medicaid
	Private Insurance
	Other
Patient residency	Urban
2	Rural
Patient median Household	Ouartile 1
in a am a	Quartile 2
income	Quartile 3
	Quartile 4
Patient comorbidities	Comorbid conditions
	Identified by applying
	based on ICD 9 CM codes
	14 Individual comorbidities
Surgeon volume	Low
	Medium
	High
Hospital Mastectomy volume	Low
	Medium
	High
Hospital total discharges volume	Low
1 0	Medium
	High
Hospital location	Urban
	Rural
Hospital bed size	Small
	Medium
	Large
Ownership status	Not-for-profit
Switership status	For-profit
	To point
Teaching status	Teaching
	Non-teaching

Table 3.5: Definition of Variables and Coding

3.6 Data Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using STATA® version 14 (StataCorp, LP, College Station, Texas, USA). All tests were two-tailed, and the statistical significance was established at a two-sided  $\alpha$  level of 0.05 (p < 0.05). Summary statistics were obtained to identify predictors of surgeons' practice style and to provide characteristics of each modality approach (i.e. 'only inpatient', 'only outpatient, or 'bimodal'). In addition,  $\chi^2$  tests were conducted to compare IM and OM styles as well as the three modality approaches by patient, physician, and hospital characteristics.

The data structure was hierarchical as it contained nesting of patients within surgeons and hospitals, and nesting of surgeons within hospitals. To address this issue of nonindependence, multilevel modeling of hierarchical data was used for the present study. The method was selected as it enables to model variability at each level of hierarchy. The response is measured at the individual level, and includes both the effect of that individual and the effect of the context. Consequently, the regression coefficient is an estimate of how the outcome changes as a function of predictors conditional on the random effects [162]. The multilevel mixed-effects logistic regression and generalized structural equation models (Melogit and gsem modules in STATA software) used for the analysis incorporates random effects in the model thus allowing for subject-specific (conditional) and population averaged (marginal) inference. Predictor variables for the three levels of hierarchical data include: level 1 predictors, i.e. patient age, race, residence, and insurance type, and comorbidities; level 2 predictor, mastectomy volume; and level 3 predictors, i.e. hospital ownership and teaching status, total discharges, and total mastectomy volume, bed size, and hospital location. A separate model was fit to

assess the effect of patient, surgeon, and system level factors on the dichotomous outcome variable of surgeons' choice of IM vs. OM practice style. Similarly, for the second outcome, variations in surgeons' modality approaches with three mutually exclusive categories, a separate model was fit to assess the effect of patient, surgeon, and system level factors on the outcome. Ultimately, multivariate models were created by retaining all exposure variables of interest, regardless of statistical significance, as well as covariates that were statistically significant at the univariate level. Furthermore, separate sensitivity analyses were conducted to explore the potential impact of the exclusion of: 1) the group of surgeons with one record of mastectomy and 2) surgeons with the exact number of IM and OM procedures on their record.

## **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS**

#### 4.1 Descriptive Results

The study population included 6,413 patients who underwent a mastectomy in Florida hospitals in 2013. Overall, 3,353 (52.28%) of mastectomy procedures were performed as outpatient and 3,060 (47.72%) as inpatient. Patients in the study population were treated by 495 surgeons working at 211 facilities. Of the 495 surgeons, 54 performed exclusively IM procedures (n=283 total procedures), 105 performed only OM (n=618 total procedures), and 336 chose both inpatient and outpatient approaches in their surgeries (n=5,512 total procedures).

Overall, of the patients who underwent a mastectomy, the largest population of patients were 60 years and over (51.43%) followed by those in the 40-59 age category (41.4%). In addition, most women were white (69.47%), lived in urban areas (90.38%), had lower income levels (Q1 and Q2: 64.1%), and had private insurance (44.25%) (Table 4.1.a). A similar profile was observed when considering IM and OM modalities with respect to race, area of residence, and income (Table 4.1.a). However, a larger proportion of IM patients were in the 40-59 years of age group (46.96%) while a larger proportion of OM patients were private insurance holders (50.88%) while a larger proportion of IM patients were Medicare beneficiaries (46.26%, p<0.0001).

The selected comorbid conditions for the patients included in the study are reported in table 4.1.b. The major comorbidities for mastectomy patients were diabetes (13.24%), hypothyroidism (10.04%), obesity (6.24%), chronic pulmonary disease (5.52%), and depression (5.75%). As table 4.1.a demonstrates, overall, a larger proportion of IM patients had comorbidities compared to those who underwent an OM procedure (Hypothyroidism: 11.80% vs. 8.44%, p<0.0001; obesity: 7.55% vs. 5.04%, p<0.0001; chronic pulmonary disease: 6.31% vs. 4.80, p=0.008; and depression: 7.03% vs. 4.59%, p<0.0001) (Table 4.1.a).

4.1.1 Patient Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles

Table 4.2.a. exhibits the characteristics of patients by surgeons' practice style. Overall, 53.36% (n=3,422) of procedures were performed by surgeons who exclusively or predominantly chose OM style in their mastectomies while 46.64% (n=2,991) of procedures were performed by IM style surgeons. Compared to surgeons with IM preference, surgeons with OM style preference operated on a significantly higher proportion of older adults (55.58% vs. 46.67%, p<0.0001), Medicare beneficiaries (44.83% vs. 36.78%, p<0.0001), and patients with the lowest median household income level (35.18% vs. 30.29%, p<0.0001). Moreover, as Table 4.2.b. shows, no significant differences were observed between IM and OM practice style groups by most comorbid conditions (Table 4.2.b).

4.1.2 Patient Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches

Table 4.3.a. compares the characteristics of patients across surgeons with different modality approaches: exclusive IM, exclusive OM, and surgeons who perform both methods. Overall, the majority of mastectomy patients (85.95%, n=5,512) were operated

on by bimodal surgeons. Exclusive OM surgeons operated on 9.64% of patients (n=618) and 4.41% of patients (n=283) were operated on by exclusive IM surgeons (Table 4.2.a). Exclusive surgeons (IM and OM), compared to bimodal surgeons, operated on a higher percentage of Medicare beneficiaries (51.59% and 46.28% vs. 39.95% respectively, p<0.0001), older adults (61.48% and 60.36% vs. 49.91%, p<0.0001), and the lowest income patients (49.82% and 36.41% vs. 31.64%, p<0.0001). However, bimodal surgeons operated on a higher percentage of private insurance holders (45.34% vs. 34.28% and 39.16%, p<0.0001), middle-aged women (42.74% vs. 34.63% and 32.52%, p<0.0001), and patients with higher income level (Q3 income: 25.25% vs. 15.55% and 20.55%, p<0.0001 and Q4 income: 9.31% vs. 6.01% and 6.8%, p<0.0001). There were no significant differences observed with respect to race across the surgeons' practice modality groups (Table 4.2.a). In addition, exclusive IM surgeons operated on a significantly higher proportion of patients with most existing comorbidities (Table 4.3.b).

4.1.3 Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles

Table 4.4 presents surgeon and hospital characteristics for 495 surgeons and 211 facilities by surgeon style categories (IM and OM). The majority of procedures were performed by high volume surgeons (56.57%), at high total discharge volume (53.31%), non-teaching (58.63%), non-profit (70.90%), and urban hospitals (98.00%). As table 4.4 shows, among IM style surgeons, 66.60% of mastectomy surgeries were performed by high volume surgeons. In comparison, among OM style surgeons less than 50% (47.81%) of mastectomies were performed by high volume surgeons.

The hospital characteristics, including hospital mastectomy and total discharges volume, ownership and teaching status, location (urban vs. rural), and bed size for the

population used in the analyses are described below (Table 4.4). Surgeons with IM practice style were more likely to operate at high mastectomy volume centers compared with OM surgeons (36.38% vs. 24.61%, p<0.0001) who were more likely to operate at low and medium mastectomy volume hospitals (low volume: 36.44% vs. 30.79% and medium: 38.95% vs. 32.83%, p<0.0001). In addition, IM surgeons were more likely to operate at teaching hospitals (52.26% vs. 31.85%, p<0.0001) compared with surgeons with OM practice style. A higher proportion of procedures were performed by IM surgeons at small bed size hospitals compared to OM surgeons (40.15% vs. 28.67%), however, OM surgeons were more likely to operate at large bed size hospitals (37.32% vs. 28.35%, p<0.0001). Furthermore, OM style surgeons were more likely to operate at for profit hospitals compared to IM style surgeons (33.05% vs. 24.57%, p<0.0001).

4.1.4 Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches

Table 4.5 exhibits the characteristics of surgeons and hospitals by modality approaches. In the exclusive IM and OM surgeon groups, a higher percentage of patients were operated by low volume surgeons when compared with bimodal surgeons (68.55% and 48.54% vs. 16.26%, p<0.0001). However, in the bimodal surgeon group, a greater proportion of patients were operated by high volume surgeons (62.39% vs. 9.89% for exclusive IM and 26.05% for exclusive OM, p<0.0001). Exclusive IM and OM surgeons operated on higher proportions of procedures at low mastectomy volume centers compared to bimodal surgeons (68.20% and 45.63% vs.30.71%, p<0.0001). In the bimodal and exclusive OM surgeon groups, a higher percentage of procedures were performed at high total discharge volume centers as compared to exclusive IM surgeons (53.07% and 54.83% vs. 24.38, p<0.0001). Exclusive surgeons were more likely to operate at non-teaching hospitals (78.09% exclusive IM and 73.30% exclusive OM vs. 55.99% bimodal, p<0.0001). Similarly, a higher proportion of exclusive surgeons operated at for-profit centers compared with bimodal surgeons (59.01% and 54.21% vs. 24.75%, p<0.0001). Exclusive IM surgeons were more likely to operate at rural hospitals compared with exclusive OM and bimodal surgeons (10.95% vs. 0.97% and 1.65%, p<0.0001).

4.2 Unadjusted Associations between Patient and Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles and Modality Approaches

4.2.1 Unadjusted Results for Patient Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles Tables 4.6- 4.9 report unadjusted results for the independent variables and the outcomes of interest. Compared with younger patients, women  $\geq 60$  years of age had 32% increased odds of having their mastectomies done by surgeons with outpatient style preference (OR=1.32, 95% CI: 1.08-1.60) (Table 4.6). Hispanic patients had decreased odds of being operated by OM style surgeons (OR=0.86, 95% CI: 0.74-0.99). However, no significant association was observed between other race groups and choosing outpatient surgeons (African-Americans: OR=0.89, 95% CI: 0.77-1.05, other races: OR=0.98, 95% CI: 0.75-1.28). Compared to Medicare beneficiaries, private insurance holders had decreased odds of choosing outpatient surgeons for their mastectomies (OR=0.63, 95% CI: 0.57-0.70). The results for other pay sources were not statistically significant (Medicaid: OR=1.09, 95% CI: 0.89-1.33, other sources of payment: OR=1.01, 95% CI: 0.83-1.23). Compared to the lowest level income patients, patients with higher median household income had decreased odds of choosing outpatient style surgeons (Q2: OR=0.89, 95% CI: 0.78-1.00, Q3: OR=0.81, 95% CI: 0.71-0.92, Q4: OR=0.53, 95% CI: 0.44-0.64). Moreover, patients with comorbidities such as chronic pulmonary disease,

hypothyroidism, valvular Disease, deficiency anemias, obesity, and depression had statistically significant decreased odds of choosing outpatient style surgeons for their mastectomies (CPD: OR=0.70, 95% CI: 0.56-0.87, hypothyroidism: OR=0.74, 95% CI: 0.63-0.87, valvular disease: OR=0.56, 955 CI: 0.40-0.79, deficiency anemias: OR=0.77, 95% CI: 0.60-0.99, obesity: OR=0.68, 95% CI: 0.56-0.84, and depression: OR=0.80, 95% CI: 0.65-0.99) (Table 4.6).

4.2.2 Unadjusted Results for Patient Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches

Older women had increased odds of having their mastectomies done by exclusive surgeons than by bimodal surgeons. However, the results were not statistically significant for exclusive OM surgeons (exclusive IM: OR=2.33, 95% CI: 1.25-4.32 and exclusive OM: OR=1.25, 95 % CI: 0.90-1.73). African-Americans had higher odds of having their mastectomies performed by exclusive IM surgeons than bimodal surgeons (OR=1.46, 95% CI: 1.04-2.03) compared to whites (Table 4.7). However, the results were not statistically significant for other races (Hispanic: OR=0.86, 95% CI: 0.59-1.24 and other races: OR=0.93, 95% CI: 0.47-1.85). Private insurance holders compared to Medicare beneficiaries had decreased odds of choosing surgeons with exclusive modality preference relative to bimodal surgeons (exclusive IM: OR=0.59, 95 %CI: 0.45-0.76 and exclusive OM: OR=0.75, 95% CI: 0.62-0.89). However, the results were not statistically significant for patients with Medicaid and other sources of payment (Medicaid exclusive IM: OR=0.86, 95% CI: 0.55-1.35; Medicaid exclusive OM: OR=0.76, 95% CI: 0.54-1.08, other pay sources for exclusive IM: OR=0.63, 95% CI: 0.38-1.05, and other pay sources for exclusive OM: OR=0.94, 955 CI: 0.69-1.30). Compared to urban patients, rural residents had higher odds of having their mastectomies performed by exclusive IM

surgeons (OR: 2.86, 95% CI: 2.03-4.02), but lower by exclusive OM surgeons (OR=0.31, 95% CI: 0.18-0.56) relative to bimodal surgeons. Compared to patients with the lowest median household income, those from higher income quartiles had decreased odds of having their mastectomies performed by exclusive approach surgeons than bimodal surgeons (exclusive IM Q3 income: OR= 0.39, 95% CI: 0.28-0.55 and Q4: OR=0.41, 95 %CI: 0.25-0.68) and exclusive OM Q3 income: OR=0.71, 95% CI: 0.56-0.89 and Q4: OR=0.63, 95 % CI: 0.45-0.90). Patients with existing comorbidities such as diabetes, renal failure, rheumatoid arthritis, depression, and deficiency anemias had increased odds of being seen by exclusive IM surgeons than by bimodal surgeons. However, patients with chronic pulmonary disease, hypothyroidism, deficiency anemias, and obesity were less likely to have their mastectomies performed by exclusive OM surgeons than by bimodal surgeons.

4.2.3 Unadjusted Results for Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles

Compared to low volume surgeons, medium volume surgeons had increased odds of choosing OM style (OR=1.86, 95 % CI: 1.59-2.18); however, high volume surgeons had decreased odds of choosing OM in their mastectomies (OR=0.62, 95% CI: 0.55-0.70) (Table 4.8). Moreover, high volume mastectomy hospitals had decreased odds of having their mastectomy cases done by OM style surgeons (OR=0.57, 95% CI: 0.5-0.65). Patients operated at medium and high total discharges volume hospitals had decreased odds of having their mastectomies performed by OM style surgeons compared to low volume centers (OR=0.43, 95% CI: 0.35-0.52, and OR=0.65, 95% CI: 0.53-0.79). Patients of non-teaching and for-profit hospitals had increased odds of being operated on by OM style surgeons compared to patients of teaching and not-for-profit centers (nonteaching: OR=2.34, 95% CI: 2.12-2.59 and for profit: OR=1.52, 95% CI: 1.36-1.69).

Furthermore, medium and large size hospitals had higher odds of having their mastectomy cases performed by OM style surgeons compared to small hospitals (medium bed size: OR=1.51, 95% CI: 1.34-1.71 and large bed size: OR=1.84, 95% CI: 1.63-2.08). Compared to patients of urban hospitals, patients of rural hospitals had lower odds of having their mastectomies done by OM style surgeons (OR=0.47, 95% CI: 0.32-0.67) (Table 4.8).

4.2.4 Unadjusted Results for Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches

Compared to low volume surgeons, medium and high volume surgeons had lower odds of being an exclusive IM or OM surgeon than being bimodal (exclusive IM surgeons: medium volume: OR=0.24, 95% CI: 0.18-0.32 and high volume: OR=0.04, 95% CI: 0.03-0.06 and exclusive OM surgeons: medium volume: OR=0.40, 95% CI: 0.32-0.49 and high volume: OR=0.14, 95% CI: 0.11-0.17) (Table 4.9). In addition, compared to low volume mastectomy hospitals, patients of medium and high volume centers had decreased odds of having their mastectomies done by exclusive surgeons than bimodal surgeons (medium volume exclusive IM: OR=0.26, 95% CI: 0.2-0.35; high volume exclusive IM: OR=0.14, 95% CI: 0.09-0.21; medium volume exclusive OM: OR=0.47, 95% CI: 0.39-0.58; and high volume exclusive OM: OR=0.59, 95% CI: 0.48-(0.72). The same pattern was observed for total discharge hospital volume except for the medium total discharge volume and exclusive IM surgeons. That particular association was not statistically significant (medium volume exclusive IM: OR=1.13, 95% CI: 0.75-1.71; high volume exclusive IM: OR=0.30, 95% CI: 0.19-0.46; medium volume exclusive OM: OR=0.26, 95% CI: 0.20-0.33; and high volume exclusive OM: OR=0.34,
95% CI: 0.27-0.43) (Table 4.9). In contrast, patients of non-teaching and for-profit hospitals had higher odds of being seen by exclusive surgeons than by bimodal surgeons (exclusive IM at non-teaching: OR=2.80, 95% CI: 2.1-3.73, exclusive OM at nonteaching: OR=2.16, 95% CI: 1.79-2.6, exclusive IM at for-profit: OR=4.38, 95% CI: 3.43-5.59, and exclusive OM at for-profit: OR=3.6, 95% CI: 3.04-4.27). Compared to small hospitals, patients of larger hospitals had lower odds of being operated by exclusive IM or OM surgeons than by bimodal surgeons (exclusive IM: OR=0.27, 955 CI: 0.20-0.38 and exclusive OM: OR=0.67, 95% CI: 0.54-0.83). Moreover, patients of rural hospitals had significantly higher odds of being seen by exclusive IM surgeons compared to bimodal surgeons (OR=7.33, 95% CI: 4.78-11.23). However, the results were not statistically significant for exclusive OM surgeons (OR=0.58, 95% CI: 0.25-1.34) (Table 4.9).

4.3 Adjusted Associations between Patient and Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles and Modality Approaches

4.3.1 Adjusted Results for Patient and Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles

Two separate models were fit to examine risk-adjusted surgeons' practice styles and modality approaches for mastectomy procedure. These analyses included 495 surgeons performing IM and/or OM modalities. These analyses were adjusted for patient comorbidities, median household income level, hospital bed-size, and hospital location. Tables 4.10 and 4.11 presents adjusted results for OM practice style compared to IM style as well as for exclusive modality approaches (exclusive IM or OM) compared to bimodality surgical tactic. As table 4.10 demonstrates, after adjustment, the association between older age and having a procedure by an OM style surgeon was attenuated and did not retain its statistical significance (OR=1.23, 95% CI: 0.95-1.58). However, the associations between African-American race and Hispanic ethnicity and having a mastectomy by an OM style surgeon both increased in magnitude and were statistically significant (OR=0.71, 95% CI: 0.59-0.85 and OR=0.74, 95% CI: 0.63-0.88, respectively). Likewise, the adjusted association between Medicaid coverage and surgeries being performed by OM style surgeons also emerged as statistically significant and increased in magnitude (OR=1.43, 95% CI: 1.10-1.85). However, the association between private insurance coverage and having a mastectomy done by an OM surgeon was attenuated after adjustment (OR=0.83, 95% CI: 0.71-0.98) (Table 4.10).

In the adjusted analysis, the association between high total discharge volume and the surgeon's practice style outcome did not retain its significance (OR=0.88, 95% CI: 0.65-1.20). After adjustment for the study covariates, the associations between high mastectomy volume centers and for profit hospitals and having mastectomies done by OM style surgeons were attenuated (high mastectomy volume hospital: OR=0.75, 95% CI: 0.61-0.93 and for-profit: OR=1.44, 95% CI: 1.25-1.65). In contrast, the associations of non-teaching status of the hospital with having mastectomies by OM style surgeons increased in magnitude (OR=2.74, 95% CI: 2.40-3.11).

4.3.2 Adjusted Results for Patient and Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches

After adjustment for patient comorbidities, median household income level, hospital bed-size, and hospital location, the association between private insurance coverage and having mastectomies done by exclusive approach surgeons, although crossed the null and was no longer statistically significant (exclusive IM: OR=1.46, 95%CI: 0.98-2.17 and exclusive OM: OR=1.28, 95% CI: 0.98-1.69) (Table 4.11). In addition, the associations between older age and rural residency and having mastectomies performed by exclusive IM surgeons were no longer statistically significant after adjustment (older age: OR=2.00, 95% CI: 0.95-4.19 and rural residency: OR=1.49, 95% CI: 0.92-2.42).

The adjusted association between hospital teaching status and ownership status and having mastectomies performed by exclusive surgeons were attenuated in magnitude (exclusive IM non-teaching hospitals: OR=1.69, 95% CI:1.19-2.39, exclusive OM nonteaching hospitals: OR=1.89, 95% CI:1.51-2.37, exclusive IM for profit hospitals: OR=2.23, 95% CI:1.63-3.05, and exclusive OM for profit hospitals: OR=2.67, 95% CI:2.11-3.38). The adjusted association between high mastectomy volume and mastectomies being performed by surgeons with exclusive IM modality approach became non-significant (OR=0.67, 95% CI: 0.37-1.20). However, the adjusted association between high mastectomy volume hospitals and mastectomies done by exclusive OM surgeons changed direction and remained significant (OR=1.50, 95% CI: 1.03-2.17). Likewise, the association between high total discharge volume hospitals and the outcome crossed the null but did not retain its significance for exclusive OM surgeons (exclusive IM: OR=3.04, 95% CI: 1.39-6.68 and exclusive OM: OR=1.21, 95% CI: 0.75-1.95).

4.4 Sensitivity Analysis Results

Sensitivity analyses were conducted to explore the potential impact of the exclusion of: 1) the group of surgeons with one record of mastectomy and 2) surgeons with the exact number of IM and OM procedures on their record. The results of the sensitivity analyses remained unchanged after excluding both surgeons with one record of mastectomy and those with exact number of IM and OM (Appendix A and B).

			Π	М	OM	[	
	Ν	⁰⁄₀ <sup>a</sup>	n	%	n	%	p-value
Surgical Procedures, Patient	6,413	100	3,060	47.72	3,353	52.28	
Patient age							<.00
4.0						6.00	01
<40	460	7.17	232	7.58	228	6.80	
40-59	2,655	41.4	1,437	46.96	1,218	36.33	
≥60	3,298	51.43	1,391	45.46	1,907	56.87	
Patient Race							0.037
White	4,455	69.47	2,087	68.20	2,368	70.62	
Black	739	11.52	380	12.42	359	10.71	
Hispanic	945	14.74	462	15.10	483	14.41	
Other	225	3.51	101	3.30	124	3.70	
<b>Primary Payer</b>							
							<.0001
Medicare	2,634	41.07	1,083	35.39	1,551	46.26	
Medicaid	466	7.27	223	7.29	243	7.25	
Private	2,838	44.25	1,557	50.88	1,281	38.20	
Insurance							
Other	475	7.41	197	6.44	278	8.29	
<b>Patient Residency</b>							0.008
Urban	5,796	90.38	2,733	89.31	3,063	91.35	
Rural	384	5.99	295	6.37	189	5.64	
Median Household							
Income							<.0001
Quartile 1	2,110	32.90	952	31.11	1,158	34.54	
Quartile2	2,001	31.20	919	30.03	1,082	32.27	
Quartile3	1,563	24.37	767	25.07	796	23.74	
Quartile4	672	8.92	330	10.78	242	7.22	

Table 4.1.a: Characteristics of Patients Undergoing Mastectomy by Type of Procedure, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

IM=Inpatient Mastectomy, OM=Outpatient Mastectomy, N=total number of patients, n=IM or OM patients

<sup>a</sup> Percentages may not total 100 due to missing values

Individual			IN	1	OM	[	
Comorbidities	Ν	%	n	%	n	%	p- value
Congestive Heart Failure	51	0.80	29	0.95	22	0.66	0.18 9
Valvular Disease	142	2.21	90	2.94	52	1.55	0.000
Peripheral Vascular	40	0.62	21	0.69	19	0.57	0.543
Disease							
Hypertension	2,303	35.91	1,130	36.93	1,173	34.98	0.105
Other Neurological	105	1.64	56	1.83	49	1.46	0.245
Disorders							
Chronic Pulmonary	354	5.52	193	6.31	161	4.80	0.008
Disease							
Diabetes	849	13.24	395	12.91	454	13.54	0.456
Hypothyroidism	644	10.04	361	11.80	283	8.44	0.000
Renal failure	113	1.76	69	2.25	44	1.31	0.004
Deficiency anemias	257	4.01	166	5.42	91	2.71	0.000
Rheumatoid Arthritis	81	1.26	50	1.63	31	0.92	0.011
Obesity	400	6.24	231	7.55	169	5.04	0.000
Psychoses	59	0.92	35	1.14	24	0.72	0.073
Depression	369	5.75	215	7.03	154	4.59	0.000

Table 4.1.b: Patients Comorbidities (Elixhauser Comorbidities Based on ICD-9-CM Codes) by Type of Mastectomy, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

IM=Inpatient Mastectomy, OM=Outpatient Mastectomy, N=total number of patients, n=IM or OM patients

			IM S	Style	OM S	tyle	
	Ν	<b>%</b> <sup>a</sup>	n	%	n	%	p-value
<u> </u>	( 412	100	2 001	AC CA	2 400	52.26	
Surgical	6,413	100	2,991	46.64	3,422	53.36	
Procedures, Patient							0.000
Fatient Age	460	7 17	226	756	224	6.94	0.000
<40	400	/.1/	220	/.30	234	0.84	
40-59	2,655	41.40	1,369	45.//	1,286	37.58	
≥60	3,298	51.43	1,396	46.67	1,902	55.58	
Patient Race							0.042
White	4,455	69.47	2,035	68.04	2,420	70.72	
Black	739	11.52	358	11.97	381	11.13	
Hispanic	945	14.74	468	15.65	477	13.94	
Other	225	3.51	104	3.48	121	3.54	
<b>Primary Payer</b>							0.000
Medicare	2,634	41.07	1,100	36.78	1,534	44.83	
Medicaid	466	7.27	185	6.19	281	8.21	
Private	2,838	44.25	1,509	50.45	1,329	38.84	
Insurance							
Other	475	7.41	197	6.59	278	8.12	
<b>Patient Residency</b>							0.415
Urban	5,796	90.38	2,695	90.10	3,101	90.62	
Rural	384	5.99	185	6.19	199	5.82	
Median Household							0.000
Income							
Quartile 1	2,110	32.90	906	30.29	1,204	35.18	
Quartile2	2,001	31.20	918	30.69	1,083	31.65	
Quartile3	1,563	24.37	753	25.18	810	23.67	
Quartile4	572	8.92	336	11.23	236	6.90	

Table 4.2.a: Characteristics of Patients by Surgeons' Practice Style (Choice of IM versus OM), 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

<sup>a</sup> Percentages may not total 100 due to missing values Surgeons n=495, hospitals n=211, Patients n=6,413

			IM S	Style	OM	Style	
	Ν	%	n	%	n	%	p-value
Individual							
Comorbidities							
Congestive Heart Failure	51	0.80	20	0.67	31	0.91	0.372
Valvular Disease	142	2.21	86	2.88	56	1.64	0.001
Peripheral Vascular	40	0.62	21	0.70	19	0.56	0.019
Disease							
Hypertension	2,303	35.91	1,079	36.07	1,224	35.77	0.144
Other Neurological Disorders	105	1.64	52	1.74	53	1.55	0.210
Chronic Pulmonary Disease	354	5.52	195	6.52	159	4.65	0.000
Diabetes	849	13.24	377	12.60	472	13.79	0.173
Hypothyroidism	644	10.04	344	11.50	300	8.77	0.000
Renal failure	113	1.76	46	1.54	67	1.96	0.368
Deficiency anemias	257	4.01	136	4.55	121	3.54	0.056
Rheumatoid	81	1.26	44	1.47	37	1.08	0.334
Arthritis							
Obesity	400	6.24	222	7.42	178	5.20	0.000
Psychoses	59	0.92	34	1.14	25	0.73	0.119
Depression	369	5.75	191	6.39	178	5.20	0.047

Table 4.2.b: Patients Comorbidities by Surgeons' Practice Style (Choice of IM Versus OM), 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

			Exclı IM	usive	Exclı OM	usive	Bimo	odal	
	Ν	⁰∕₀ <sup>a</sup>	n	%	n	%	n	%	p-value
Surgical			283	4.41	618	9.64	5,512	85.95	
Procedures,									
Patient									
Patient Age									0.000
<40	460	7.17	11	3.89	44	7.12	405	7.35	
40-59	2,655	41.40	98	34.63	201	32.52	2,356	42.74	
60 and over	3,298	51.43	174	61.48	373	60.36	2,751	49.91	
Patient Race									0.337
White	4,455	69.47	191	67.49	439	70.87	3,826	69.41	
Black	739	11.52	46	16.25	60	9.71	633	11.48	
Hispanic	945	14.74	35	12.37	93	15.05	817	14.82	
Other	225	3.51	9	3.18	23	3.72	193	3.50	
<b>Primary Payer</b>									0.000
Medicare	2,634	41.07	146	51.59	286	46.28	2,202	39.95	
Medicaid	466	7.27	23	8.13	40	6.47	403	7.31	
Private	2,838	44.25	97	34.28	242	39.16	2,499	45.34	
Insurance	,						,		
Other	475	7.41	17	6.01	50	8.09	408	7.40	
Patient									0.000
Residency									
Urban	5,796	90.38	234	82.69	581	94.01	4,981	90.37	
Rural	384	5.99	44	15.55	12	1.94	328	5.95	
Median									0.000
Household									
Income									
Quartile 1	2,110	32.90	141	49.82	225	36.41	1,744	31.64	
Quartile2	2,001	31.20	80	28.27	204	33.01	1,717	31.15	
Quartile3	1,563	24.37	44	15.55	127	20.55	1,392	25.25	
Quartile4	572	8.92	17	6.01	42	6.80	513	9.31	

Table 4.3.a: Characteristics of Patients by Surgeons' Modality Approaches (Choice of Bimodality versus Exclusive Inpatient or Outpatient), 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

<sup>a</sup> Percentages may not total 100 due to missing values Mastectomy, Surgeons n=495, hospitals n=211

			Exclu IM	usive	Exclu	sive OM	Bimo	odal	
	Ν		n	%	n	%	n	%	p-value
		%							
Individual Comorbidities									
Congestive Heart Failure	51	0.80	4	1.41	4	0.65	43	0.78	0.459
Valvular Disease	142	2.21	10	3.53	11	1.78	121	2.20	0.244
Peripheral Vascular Disease	40	0.62	4	1.41	2	0.32	34	0.62	0.153
Hypertension	2,303	35.91	138	48.76	199	32.20	1,966	35.67	0.000
Other Neurological Disorders	105	1.64	6	2.12	10	1.62	89	1.61	0.807
Chronic Pulmonary Disease	354	5.52	12	4.24	19	3.07	323	5.86	0.010
Diabetes	849	13.24	51	18.02	90	14.56	708	12.84	0.026
Hypothyroidism	644	10.04	33	11.66	35	5.66	576	10.45	0.001
Renal failure	113	1.76	11	3.89	12	1.94	90	1.63	0.018
Deficiency anemias	257	4.01	21	7.42	15	2.43	221	4.01	0.002
Rheumatoid Arthritis	81	1.26	7	2.47	11	1.78	63	1.14	0.071
Obesity	400	6.24	26	9.19	21	3.40	353	6.40	0.002
Psychoses	59	0.92	4	1.41	4	0.65	51	0.93	0.532
Depression	369	5.75	32	11.31	29	4.69	308	5.59	0.000

Table 4.3.b: Patients Comorbidities by Surgeons' Modality Approaches (Choice of Bimodality versus Exclusive Inpatient or Outpatient), 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

			IM S	style	OM	Style	
	Ν	<b>%</b> <sup>a</sup>	n	%	n	%	p-
							value
Summinal Duagadunas	6 412	100	2 001	16.61	2 422	52.26	
Providers	0,415	100	2,991	40.04	5,422	55.50	
Surgeon Mastectomy							0.000
Volume							0.000
Low	1,390	21.67	597	19.96	793	23.17	
Medium	1 395	21.75	402	13 44	993	29.02	
High	3 628	56 57	1 992	66.60	1 636	27.02 47.81	
Hosnital Mastectomy	5,020	50.57	1,772	00.00	1,050	47.01	0.000
Volume							0.000
Low	2.168	33.81	921	30.79	1.247	36.44	
Medium	2.315	36.10	982	32.83	1.333	38.95	
High	1,930	30.10	1,088	36.38	842	24.61	
Hospital Total Discharge	,		,				0.000
Volume							
Low	506	7.89	168	5.62	338	9.88	
Medium	2,488	38.80	1,339	44.77	1,149	33.58	
High	3,419	53.31	1,484	49.62	1,935	56.55	
<b>Teaching Status</b>							0.000
Teaching	2,653	41.37	1,563	52.26	1,090	31.85	
Non-teaching	3,760	58.63	1,428	47.74	2,332	68.15	
Ownership							0.000
Not-for-profit	4,547	70.90	2,256	75.43	2,291	66.95	
For-profit	1,866	29.10	735	24.57	1,131	33.05	
<b>Hospital Bed Size</b>							0.000
Small	2,182	34.02	1,201	40.15	981	28.67	
Medium	2,106	32.84	942	31.49	1,164	34.02	
Large	2,125	33.14	848	28.35	1,277	37.32	
<b>Hospital Location</b>							0.000
Urban	6,285	98.00	2,908	97.23	3,377	98.68	
Rural	128	2.00	83	2.77	45	1.32	

 Table 4.4: Provider Characteristics by Surgeons' Practice Styles, 2013 Florida HCUP 

 SASD/SID

<sup>a</sup> Percentages may not total 100 due to missing values

			Exclu IM	sive	Excl OM	Exclusive OM		th	
	N	⁰∕₀ <sup>a</sup>	n	%	n	%	n	%	p- value
Surgical Procedures,		100							<u> </u>
Providers	6,413	100	283	4.41	618	9.64	5,512	85.95	0.000
Surgeon									0.000
Mastectomy Volume	1 200	01 (7	104	(0.55	200	40.54	007	16.06	
Low	1,390	21.67	194	68.55	300	48.54	896	16.26	
Medium	1,395	21.75	61	21.55	157	25.40	1,177	21.35	
High	3,628	56.57	28	9.89	161	26.05	3,439	62.39	
Hospital									0.000
Mastectomy Volume									
Low	2,168	33.81	193	68.20	282	45.63	1,693	30.71	
Medium	2,315	36.10	63	22.26	165	26.70	2,087	37.86	
High	1,930	30.10	27	9.54	171	27.67	1,732	31.42	
Hospital Total									0.000
Discharge Volume									
Low	506	7.89	28	9.89	116	18.77	362	6.57	
Medium	2,488	38.80	186	65.72	174	28.16	2,128	38.61	
High	3,419	53.31	69	24.38	328	53.07	3,022	54.83	
<b>Teaching Status</b>									0.000
Teaching	2,653	41.37	62	21.91	165	26.70	2,426	44.01	
Non-teaching	3,760	58.63	221	78.09	453	73.30	3,086	55.99	
Ownership									0.000
Not-for-profit	4,547	70.90	116	40.99	283	45.79	4,148	75.25	
For-profit	1,866	29.10	167	59.01	335	54.21	1,364	24.75	
Hospital Bed Size	-						-		0.000
Small	2,182	34.02	168	59.36	221	35.76	1,793	32.53	
Medium	2,106	32.84	66	23.32	239	38.67	1,801	32.67	
Large	2,125	33.14	49	17.31	158	25.57	1,918	34.80	
Hospital Location									0.000
Urban	6,285	98.00	252	89.05	612	99.03	5,421	98.35	
Rural	128	2.00	31	10.95	6	0.97	91	1.65	

Table 4.5: Provide Characteristics by Surgeons' Modality Approaches, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

<sup>a</sup> Percentages may not total 100 due to missing values

		Ow style	
	OR	95% CI	n-value
Patients Characteristics	011	2010 01	
Patient Age			
<40	1.00	Referent	
40-59	0.91	0.74-1.11	0.335
≥60	1.32	1.08-1.60	0.006
Patient Race			
White	1.00	Referent	
Black	0.89	0.77-1.05	0.163
Hispanic	0.86	0.74-0.99	0.031
Other	0.98	0.75-1.28	0.873
Primary Payer			
Medicare	1.00	Referent	
Medicaid	1.09	0.89-1.33	0.405
Private Insurance	0.63	0.57-0.70	0.000
Other	1.01	0.83-1.23	0.907
Patient Residency			
Urban	1.00	Referent	
Rural	0.93	0.76-1.15	0.523
Median Household Income			
Quartile 1	1.00	Referent	
Quartile 2	0.89	0.78-1.00	0.058
Quartile 3	0.81	0.71-0.92	0.002
Quartile 4	0.53	0.44-0.64	0.000
Individual Comorbidities			
Congestive Heart Failure	1.36	0.77-2.39	0.288
Valvular Disease	0.56	0.40-0.79	0.001
Peripheral Vascular Disease	0.79	0.42-1.47	0.457
Hypertension	0.99	0.89-1.09	0.799
Other Neurological Disorders	0.89	0.60-1.31	0.551
Chronic Pulmonary Disease	0.70	0.56-0.87	0.001
Diabetes	1.11	0.96-1.28	0.161
Hypothyroidism	0.74	0.63-0.87	0.000
Renal failure	1.28	0.88-1.87	0.203
Deficiency anemias	0.77	0.60-0.99	0.040
Rheumatoid Arthritis	0.73	0.47-1.14	0.165
Obesity	0.68	0.56-0.84	0.000
Psychoses	0.64	0.38-1.08	0.092
Depression	0.80	0.65-0.99	0.043

 Table 4.6: Unadjusted Association between Patients Characteristics and by Surgeons'

 Practice Styles, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

 OM style

		Exclusive I	М	Е	xclusive	
				OM		
	OR	95% CI	p-value	OR	95% CI	p-value
Patients Characteristics						
Patient Age						
<40	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
40-59	1.53	0.81-2.88	0.186	0.79	0.56-1.11	0.167
≥60	2.33	1.25-4.32	0.007	1.25	0.90-1.73	0.187
Patient Race						
White	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Black	1.46	1.04-2.03	0.027	0.83	0.62-1.10	0.190
Hispanic	0.86	0.59-1.24	0.415	0.99	0.79-1.26	0.962
Other	0.93	0.47-1.85	0.845	1.04	0.67-1.62	0.859
Primary Payer						
Medicare	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medicaid	0.86	0.55-1.35	0.516	0.76	0.54-1.08	0.129
Private Insurance	0.59	0.45-0.76	0.000	0.75	0.62-0.89	0.001
Other	0.63	0.38-1.05	0.076	0.94	0.69-1.30	0.721
Patient Residency						
Urban	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Rural	2.86	2.03-4.02	0.000	0.31	0.18-0.56	0.000
Median Household Income						
Quartile 1	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Quartile2	0.58	0.43-0.76	0.000	0.92	0.75-1.13	0.421
Quartile3	0.39	0.28-0.55	0.000	0.71	0.56-0.89	0.003
Quartile 4	0.41	0.25-0.68	0.001	0.63	0.45-0.90	0.010
Individual Comorbidities						
Congestive Heart Failure	1.82	0.65-5.12	0.254	0.83	0.30-2.32	0.720
Valvular Disease	1.63	0.85-3.15	0.143	0.81	0.43-1.51	0.501
Peripheral Vascular Disease	2.31	0.81-6.55	0.116	0.52	0.13-2.18	0.374
Hypertension	1.72	1.35-2.18	0.000	0.86	0.72-1.02	0.088
Other Neurological	1.32	0.57-3.04	0.515	1.00	0.52-1.94	0.995
Disorders						
Chronic Pulmonary Disease	0.71	0.39-1.28	0.257	0.51	0.32-0.82	0.005
Diabetes	1.49	1.09-2.04	0.012	1.16	0.91-1.47	0.229
Hypothyroidism	1.13	0.78-1.64	0.517	0.51	0.36-0.73	0.000
Renal failure	2.44	1.29-4.61	0.006	1.19	0.65-2.19	0.570
Deficiency anemias	1.92	1.21-3.05	0.006	0.60	0.35-1.01	0.055
Rheumatoid Arthritis	2.19	1.00-4.83	0.051	1.57	0.82-2.99	0.173
Obesity	1.48	0.97-2.24	0.066	0.51	0.33-0.80	0.004
Psychoses	1.54	0.55-4.28	0.412	0.70	0.25-1.94	0.489
Depression	2.15	0.4/-3.1/	0.000	0.83	0.56-1.23	0.333

Table 4.7: Unadjusted Association between Patient Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

	OM	Style	_
	OR	95% CI	p-value
Provider Characteristics			
Surgeon Mastectomy			
Volume	1 0 0		
Low	1.00	Referent	
Medium	1.86	1.59-2.18	0.000
Hıgh	0.62	0.55-0.70	0.000
Hospital Mastectomy			
Volume			
Low	1.00	Referent	
Medium	1.00	0.89-1.13	0.966
High	0.57	0.5-0.65	0.000
Hospital Total Discharge			
Volume			
Low	1.00	Referent	
Medium	0.43	0.35-0.52	0.000
High	0.65	0.53-0.79	0.000
Teaching Status			
Teaching	1.00	Referent	
Non-teaching	2.34	2.12-2.59	0.000
Ownership			
Not-for-profit	1.00	Referent	
For-profit	1.52	1.36-1.69	0.000
Hospital Bed Size			
Small	1.00	Referent	
Medium	1.51	1.34-1.71	0.000
Large	1.84	1.63-2.08	0.000
Hospital Location			
Urban	1.00	Referent	
Rural	0.47	0.32-0.67	0.000

Table 4.8: Unadjusted Associations between Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Practice Styles, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

	Exclu	usive IM		Exclu	isive OM	
	OR	95% CI	p-value	OR	95% CI	p-value
Provider Characteristics						
Surgeon Mastectomy						
Volume						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	0.24	0.18-0.32	0.000	0.40	0.32-0.49	0.000
High	0.04	0.03-0.06	0.000	0.14	0.11-0.17	0.000
Hospital Mastectomy						
Volume						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	0.26	0.20-0.35	0.000	0.47	0.39-0.58	0.000
High	0.14	0.09-0.21	0.000	0.59	0.48-0.72	0.000
Hospital Total						
Discharge Volume						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	1.13	0.75-1.71	0.561	0.26	0.20-0.33	0.000
High	0.30	0.19-0.46	0.000	0.34	0.27-0.43	0.000
Teaching Status						
Teaching	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Non-teaching	2.80	2.10-3.73	0.000	2.16	1.79-2.60	0.000
Ownership						
Not-for-profit	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
For-profit	4.38	3.43-5.59	0.000	3.60	3.04-4.27	0.000
Hospital Bed Size						
Small	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	0.39	0.29-0.52	0.000	1.08	0.89-1.31	0.456
Large	0.27	0.20-0.38	0.000	0.67	0.54-0.83	0.000
Hospital Location			-			-
Urban	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Rural	7 33	4 78-11 23	0.000	0.58	0 25-1 34	0 204

Table 4.9: Unadjusted Associations between Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

	(	OM style	
	OR	95% CI	p-value
Patient Age			
<40	1 00	Referent	
40-59	1.00	0.82-1.29	0 820
>60	1.03	0.95-1.58	0.111
Patient Race	1.20	0.50 1.00	
White	1.00	Referent	
Black	0.71	0.59-0.85	0.000
Hispanic	0.74	0.63-0.88	0.000
Other	0.96	0.71-1.31	0.810
Primary Payer			
Medicare	1.00	Referent	
Medicaid	1.43	1.10-1.85	0.007
Private Insurance	0.83	0.71-0.98	0.032
Other	1.28	1.00-1.65	0.052
Patient Residency			
Urban	1.00	Referent	
Rural	0.87	0.67-1.12	0.283
Median Household			
Income			
Quartile 1	1.00	Referent	
Quartile2	0.89	0.77-1.02	0.085
Quartile3	0.86	0.74-1.00	0.054
Quartile 4	0.63	0.51-0.79	0.000
Individual Comorbidities			
Valvular Disease	0.66	0.45-0.96	0.030
Chronic Pulmonary	0.76	0.60-0.97	0.029
Disease			
Hypothyroidism	0.78	0.65-0.94	0.010
Deficiency anemias	0.74	0.56-0.97	0.032
Depression	0.75	0.60-0.96	0.019
Surgeon Mastectomy			
Volume			
Low	1.00	Referent	
Medium	1.96	1.65-2.32	0.000
High	0.61	0.52-0.72	0.000
Hospital Mastectomy			
Volume	1.00		
Low	1.00	Referent	0.525
Medium	1.06	0.89-1.26	0.025
High	0.75	0.61-0.93	0.007

Table 4.10: Adjusted Association between Patients and Provider Characteristics and by Surgeons' Practice Styles, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

Table 4.10 Continued

		OM style	
	OR	95% CI	p-value
Hospital Total Discharge			
Volume			
Low	1.00	Referent	
Medium	0.38	0.30-0.49	0.000
High	0.88	0.65-1.20	0.418
<b>Teaching Status</b>			
Teaching	1.00	Referent	
Non-teaching	2.74	2.40-3.11	0.000
Ownership			
Not-for-profit	1.00	Referent	
For-profit	1.44	1.25-1.65	0.000
Hospital Bed Size			
Small	1.00	Referent	
Medium	1.54	1.31-1.81	0.000
Large	2.43	1.97-3.00	0.000
Hospital Location			
Urban	1.00	Referent	
Rural	0.32	0.20-0.50	0.000

	Excl	Exclusive IM Exclusive OM				
	OR	95% CI	p-value	OR	95% CI	p-
						value
Patient Age						
<40	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
40-59	1.65	0.82-3.33	0.161	0.89	0.60-1.32	0.558
≥60	2.00	0.95-4.19	0.068	1.37	0.89-2.10	0.151
Patient Race						
White	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Black	1.53	1.02-2.28	0.039	0.87	0.63-1.21	0.416
Hispanic	1.07	0.71-1.61	0.753	0.87	0.66-1.15	0.326
Other	1.31	0.62-2.78	0.481	1.30	0.79-2.13	0.302
Primary Payer						
Medicare	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medicaid	0.94	0.54-1.65	0.837	0.98	0.64-1.50	0.924
Private Insurance	1.46	0.98-2.17	0.062	1.28	0.98-1.69	0.074
Other	1.05	0.57-1.96	0.871	1.17	0.77-1.77	0.474
Patient Residency						
Urban	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Rural	1.49	0.92-2.42	0.108	0.15	0.08-0.29	0.000
Median Household						
Income						
Quartile 1	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Quartile2	0.67	0.49-0.91	0.012	0.86	0.69-1.08	0.205
Quartile3	0.55	0.37-0.81	0.002	0.69	0.53-0.89	0.005
Quartile 4	0.72	0.40-1.31	0.286	0.84	0.57-1.23	0.378
Individual						
Comorbidities						
Hypertension	1.06	0.78-1.43	0.715	0.73	0.58-0.91	0.005
Chronic Pulmonary	0.73	0.38-1.40	0.342	0.68	0.41-1.12	0.132
Disease						
Diabetes	1.00	0.69-1.45	0.995	1.20	0.90-1.60	0.220
Hypothyroidism	0.98	0.64-1.50	0.925	0.48	0.32-0.70	0.000
Renal failure	0.96	0.47-1.99	0.921	1.02	0.51-2.03	0.962
Deficiency anemias	1.47	0.87-2.49	0.147	0.58	0.32-1.06	0.079

Table 4.11: Adjusted Association between Patient and Provider Characteristics and Surgeons' Modality Approaches, 2013 Florida HCUP-SASD/SID

Table 4.11 Continued

		Exclusive II	М	Exclu		
	OR	95% CI	p-value	OR	95% CI	p- value
Obesity	1.15	0.71-1.87	0.569	0.58	0.36-0.95	0.029
Depression	1.81	1.14-2.86	0.012	0.88	0.56-1.37	0.565
Surgical Procedures,						
Providers						
Surgeon Mastectomy						
Volume						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	0.25	0.18-0.35	0.000	0.41	0.32-0.51	0.000
High	0.06	0.04-0.09	0.000	0.11	0.08-0.14	0.000
Hospital Mastectomy						
Volume						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	0.75	0.50-1.14	0.177	0.89	0.65-1.21	0.448
High	0.67	0.37-1.20	0.173	1.50	1.03-2.17	0.033
Hospital Total Discharge						
Volume						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	2.83	1.65-4.86	0.000	0.30	0.22-0.41	0.000
High	3.04	1.39-6.68	0.005	1.21	0.75-1.95	0.435
Teaching Status						
Teaching	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Non-teaching	1.69	1.19-2.39	0.003	1.89	1.51-2.37	0.000
Ownership						
Not-for-profit	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
For-profit	2.23	1.63-3.05	0.000	2.67	2.11-3.38	0.000
Hospital Bed Size						
Small	1			1		
Medium	0.43	0.30-0.61	0.000	0.86	0.64-1.14	0.292
Large	0.97	0.54-1.74	0.915	0.78	0.54-1.13	0.194
<b>Hospital Location</b>						
Urban	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Rural	2.12	1.10-4.08	0.024	0.49	0.18-1.34	0.16

## **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

## 5.1 Overall Findings

This retrospective, cross-sectional study investigated patient and provider nonclinical predictive factors of practice style and modality approaches selected by surgeons in mastectomy cases using 2013 Florida HCUP- state inpatient and outpatient data. Two research objectives and six hypotheses guided this research. The first objective was to explore patient-level predictors of surgeon's practice style (inpatient versus outpatient) for mastectomy procedure. Hypothesis H1.1 under this objective was that patients with minority race and patients who have private insurance have higher odds of having their mastectomy performed by surgeons with OM style. This hypothesis, however, was not supported by the study findings. The expectation was based on the evidence found in the literature reporting higher rates of 'being uninsured' and shorter hospital stays to avoid extra costs among African-Americans compared to whites. However, in this study, African-Americans and Hispanics were less likely to be seen by OM style surgeons. These results support the findings of some other studies suggesting that nonwhites are less likely to receive OM than their white counterparts [34]. In a study by Salasky et al. [70] examining the use of OM in the U.S., all racial minorities including African-American patients and American Indian or Alaska Native patients had lower rates of OM compared with white patients [70]. Researchers speculate that racial disparities in the use of OM may be associated with the local environment of the patients' place of residence [70] as it has been documented that patients residing in racially segregated areas have

lower access and use rates of outpatient surgical procedures compared with patients in less segregated areas. [163]

Moreover, in the present study, private insurance holders were less likely to have their mastectomies performed by surgeons with OM style. However, Medicaid beneficiaries compared to Medicare patients were significantly more likely to be seen by OM style surgeons. Previous studies examining the relationship between the use of OM and patient insurance coverage have produced conflicting results. Some studies suggest that cost-conscious insurance companies limit a patient's choice to outpatient breast cancer procedures to lower hospital costs [33]. For example, in a study conducted by the AHRQ, a team of researchers examined trends and patterns for OM in the 5 states and found a significant increase in the rate of OM in the late 1990s, in part because of pressures from insurance companies during those years to make OMs mandatory [52]. Thus, the expectation was that private insurance holders would be more likely to be treated by surgeons who do more OM. However, it is important to note that more than half (about 52%) of the present study population were older adults and the majority of U.S. older adults now are under Medicare coverage [164]. Moreover, the rate of outpatient surgeries among Medicare beneficiaries has also increased by 40% over the last decade [165]. In addition, there is evidence that outpatient surgery, including OM, reduces patient exposure to the risks associated with prolonged hospitalization and has been shown to be a safe option for the treatment of breast cancer [166]. As a result, much like other insurers, Medicare has developed policies to encourage outpatient surgery in order to reduce rising health care costs. For example, the Medicare program adopted an outpatient prospective payment system authorizing payment for surgical services in a

variety of outpatient settings [70].

Another study hypothesis related to patient characteristics and surgeons' choice of modality approaches (H1.2) was that older, rural, and racial minority patients, and patient who have private insurance have higher odds of having their mastectomy performed by surgeons who choose an exclusive approach, IM or OM, in their mastectomies than by bimodal surgeons. This hypothesis was partially supported by the study findings. In this study, African-American women were more likely to have their mastectomies performed by exclusive IM surgeons compared to bimodal surgeons. These findings are consistent with previous studies suggesting the existence of racial disparities in accessing high quality of care and new treatment methods [167, 168]. Considering bimodal surgeons as a more trained and specialized group of surgeons [169] who have the ability to perform both methods based on patient need and operation circumstances, it appears that African-Americans may not receive such treatment compared to whites. Consequently, the racial differences in accessibility to high quality treatment found in the present study is consistent with previous studies of racial disparities in quality of care. No significant associations were found for patient age and type of insurance and surgeon's selection of exclusive versus bimodality approaches. However, rural patients were less likely to have their mastectomies performed by exclusive OM surgeons than by bimodal surgeons. One explanation for this result is that mastectomy, although it is being performed as an outpatient, is a complex procedure which requires facilitated operating rooms and expert personnel [170]. Rural areas tend to have less equipped hospitals with the appropriate resources to support outpatient procedures [171]. As a result, rural residents who seek to have their mastectomies in local rural hospitals may not have OM procedures as an

option or it is possible that surgeons working in rural hospitals are less likely to operate mastectomy as an outpatient.

Two hypothesized expectations involving surgeon volume were supported by the present study. H2.1 stated that high volume surgeons are less likely to use OM style compared to low volume surgeons. Furthermore, H2.2 under objective 2 was that high volume surgeons have lower odds of being among 'exclusive outpatient' or 'exclusive inpatient' surgeons than among bimodal surgeons. The study findings suggest that high volume surgeons compared to lowest volume surgeons were less likely to choose OM style and also less likely to be among surgeons with exclusive approaches. These findings are supported by most previous studies suggesting that surgeon volume is a proxy for quality of care. According to these studies, high volume physicians provide complex supportive services such as clinical follow-up care and they are less likely to discharge their patients early after complex surgeries [61]. Besides, high volume surgeons tend to be experienced and well-trained surgeons who have the ability to perform different surgical approaches based on individual patients' preferences and clinical status [172]. It is also possible that high volume surgeons tend to see more complex cases and patients with advanced stages or a greater number of comorbidities who are not really good candidates for outpatient breast surgeries [75].

The first part of hypothesis *H3.1* stating that non-teaching and for-profit hospitals have higher odds of having mastectomies performed by OM style surgeons than by surgeons who use inpatient method in their mastectomies (*H3.1*) was supported. Nonteaching hospitals had significantly higher odds of their mastectomy cases being performed by surgeons who prefer OM style. These results support the findings of other studies which suggest that non-teaching hospitals are more likely to perform same day surgeries. In a study conducted by the AHRQ [173] research team, the authors studied the distribution of outpatient surgery compared with inpatient surgical procedures by body system, as well as the most common surgical procedures performed in an outpatient setting in 28 states that provide data for both types of settings. The researchers found that compared with inpatient surgeries, outpatient procedures were more likely to be done in smaller hospitals, non-metropolitan areas, and in non-teaching settings [174]. Moreover, Case and colleagues found that women were less likely to undergo an OM in teaching compared with non-teaching hospitals [52]. In addition, the majority of outpatient medical centers and Ambulatory Surgical Centers (ASCs) are physician owned and considered as profitable settings. The existing research demonstrates that physicians who own facilities refer patients for outpatient services at much higher rates than other physicians [175]. This evidence may explain the higher rates of surgeries being performed by OM style surgeons at for-profit settings.

However, the second part of the hypothesis H3.1 involving hospital volume was not supported by the present study. This part of the hypothesis stated that high volume hospitals (both in terms of mastectomy volume and total discharge volume) are more likely to have mastectomy procedures done by OM style surgeons. The expectation was that high volume hospitals would increase the chance of surgeons performing OM because of their more specialized staff, availability of advanced technology, and limited number of available beds [176]. However, it is important to note that high volume hospitals are also more likely to admit more complex cases and those with more advanced cancer stages [177] for whom OM is not an appropriate method of treatment [75].

Hypothesis H3.2 was that non-teaching and for-profit hospitals have higher odds of having mastectomies performed by 'exclusive outpatient' or 'exclusive inpatient' surgeons than by surgeons with other bimodal approach. This hypothesis was also supported by the study findings. These results are consistent with previous studies suggesting that teaching and non-profit hospitals compared to non-teaching and profitable settings, tend to attract and hire more experienced, specialized, and well-trained surgeons who have the ability to perform new and multimodal treatments [178].

5.2 Evidence Supporting Study Findings on Variations in Surgeons Practice Patterns

Consistent with previous studies, the results of the present study demonstrate that variation in physicians' practice styles can be influenced by both patient and provider level factors. According to previous studies, variation in physician clinical management, including cancer treatment, occurs with regards to patient demographic and clinical characteristics [179, 180], providers' individual attributes (gender, level of experience, specialty) [181], practice environments, and healthcare systems [182-184]. Moreover, previous studies have shown clear patterns of variation on several levels of aggregation including countries, regions, hospitals, and physicians [60]. Research has demonstrated that the choice of medical treatment can be influenced by non-clinical factors such as uncertainty about the most effective practice, response to regulations, payment system, availability of beds and facilities, and type of insurance coverage [40, 141, 185].

Most of the existing explanations on variations in practice patterns are based on the idea that physicians differ in their preferences concerning treatment [81]. Judgment

84

and preferences of physicians give rise to a unique pattern over time, which is called surgical modality signature [81]. Freidson [186] theorized that for some diagnoses there are no strong expectations, or norms, on how to treat. Professional uncertainty therefore exists and there is an opportunity for different practice styles. He described the social system in which physicians make their medical decisions and expected that within groups, physicians behave in similar ways because they are mutually dependent. According to Freidson, professional uncertainty provides the opportunity for variation in medical behavior; however, sharing a work environment is related to similarities in behavior. There is existing evidence that physicians find solutions to the problem of professional uncertainty, for example, by doing what colleagues are doing [84]. When acting like others, one does not have to explain, or legitimize, one's behavior. It becomes a norm. Thus, patterns of variation come into being [84]. Westert [187] found similarities among physicians working in the same hospital in the use of hospital care, but variation between the hospitals. De Jong et al. [188] also found similarities in attitudes and stated medical behavior for general practitioners working in the same partnership. However, the researchers reported differences between general practitioners working in different partnerships [189]. Some studies argue that preferences toward specific method of treatment are developed in the course of education and socialization. For example, Chassin [190] suggested variations in practice styles are associated with differences in the prevalence of physicians who are enthusiastic for certain procedures due to authoritative teachers in continuous medical education.

Findings related to the comorbidities in the present study deserve special attention. As expected, patients with comorbidities were less likely to have their surgery

performed by outpatient style surgeons or surgeons who exclusively perform OM. Specifically, in the adjusted analysis, patients with chronic pulmonary disease, hypothyroidism, deficiency anemias, obesity, and depression were less likely to be operated on by OM style surgeons and patients with hypertension, hypothyroidism, and obesity were less likely to be seen by exclusive OM surgeons. Moreover, patients with depression were 82% more likely to be treated by exclusive IM surgeons than by bimodal surgeons. These findings support the results of previous studies results suggesting that lower rates of outpatient procedures and longer lengths of stay for inpatient hospitalization among patients with comorbidities may be due to their need for higher levels of postoperative follow up [191]. Patients with mental disorders such as depression and psychoses have been reported to experience more severe depression following an operation as surgery imposes another level of depression; hence, these groups of patients are in need of higher levels of postoperative care and cannot be discharged the same day as surgery [192].

## 5.3 Strengths and Limitations

Some important study limitations should be noted. Previous cancer studies using clinical data have shown a significant effect of cancer stage on the decision-making process of treatment [193-195]. Unfortunately, due to the administrative nature of the HCUP databases used for the present study, some important clinically relevant factors such as cancer stage and severity of comorbid conditions were not examined. Moreover, it was not possible to extract detailed clinical information about the cases from the data. For example, there were different ICD-9-CM codes for malignant neoplasm or metastatic breast cancers, however, these codes do not reveal any information about the time of

diagnoses, time interval between diagnosis to surgery, and whether patients received any adjuvant therapy before the surgery. However, according to breast cancer studies, early diagnosis of breast cancer and more importantly timely surgical intervention, regardless of cancer stage, results in a higher survival rate and influences the type of procedure a patient receives [196, 197]. Furthermore, the HCUP databased do not include information on surgeon level factors (i.e., surgeon's demographics such as age and gender, and training/experience characteristics). Previous studies suggest that physician demographics and training/experience factors may also influence the type of treatment patients receive [198, 199]. Moreover, from the HCUP databases, it was not possible to study some other institutional variables which are often likely to contribute to variations in surgeons' practice styles and patterns including multidisciplinary team, staffing ratios, availability of technology and specialized equipment including specialized operating rooms, preoperative risk assessments, and recommendations by other physicians [40, 50, 68, 148]. All these unmeasured differences may result in confounding, and thus an overor under-estimate of the true association.

Some methodological challenges involved in the study should be also noted. While evidence was found regarding a validated volume categorization for surgeon volume, the same was not true for hospital volume. As previous breast cancer studies have acknowledged, no validated volume thresholds have been established for hospitals. Halm et al. [126] noted that cut-off points used to define high and low volume overlapped substantially among studies: the same number of procedures was defined as high volume in one study and low volume in another. This wide variation in the definition of low vs. high volume at both surgeon and hospital levels creates considerable methodological challenges.

Miscoding of procedures is another possible limitation. The study analyses relies on the accuracy of the mastectomy procedure codes included in HCUP databases; while the accuracy level of HCUP is high for an administrative database [200], it is possible that some ICD-9 or CPT coded procedures may be incorrectly coded. If this type of miscoding had occurred, it likely would have biased the results towards the null.

Despite the limitations, the present study does have a number of strengths. This study is the first study that examined how patient, surgeon, and hospital characteristics are associated with surgeons' practice styles and modality approaches for mastectomy procedure. As noted by other researchers, there are multiple factors involved in the decision making process for treatment or surgical modality including patient preference, patient's comorbidities, patient lifestyle, and social support [201-203]. Some studies have also attempted to investigate racial and geographical variations in the use of outpatient mastectomy. However, physician preference and comfort with one modality can strongly affect the choice of treatment modality and had not been examined before this study [174]. Another strength of the study is the use of multilevel modeling utilized for the hierarchical data that allowed the ability to separate the impact of patient demographics and non-clinical factors, surgeon's experience, and the parameters related to the hospital system and resources. In addition, most previous studies on OM were conducted over one decade ago and focused on Medicare data. As such, these studies may not be generalizable to the larger population of patients treated in the health care environment of today. Furthermore, the present study has a large population-based design, including data

from individuals of all ages and insurance coverage plans, making the sample size larger than most other breast cancer studies. Lastly, the data used represented a diverse sample of hospitals and allowed for adjustment for multiple patient and hospital characteristics. Thus, these findings are likely generalizable to other states with similar organizational structures of health care systems.

5.4 Policy and Practice Implications

Studies have demonstrated that when patients and their families make decisions about treatments, they assume that physicians make decisions only based on medical knowledge or the patient's clinical condition. As a result, they do not give themselves the right to judge or interfere directly [186, 204] and "this gives the medical profession its special social and legal status" [60]. However, if the assumption is true, similar patients with similar conditions would receive the same treatment/procedure, regardless of the physician, hospital, or practice they attended. However, examples from literature show the existence of variations in medical practice even for patients with similar conditions (e.g., differences in diagnoses, ordering of diagnostic tests, referral rates, drug prescribing, hospital admissions, decisions on surgery, diagnostic procedures, and length of stay) [139, 140, 205]. In addition, some previous studies have revealed that even patients with the same clinical condition and same doctors treating in different care settings do not receive similar treatments [81, 190].

Understanding variations in treatment and whether patients receive the treatment that works best, whether the relation between costs and effects is acceptable, and whether all people have equal access to health care are of importance to all stakeholders in the health care system. The observation that similar patients are not treated similarly is a concern with regard to effectiveness, efficiency and equity in delivery of health care. Policy makers, insurance companies, patient organizations, and healthcare providers generally aim at decreasing variations in medical practice. As a result, it is important to measure the extent of variation and understand its causes.

The existence of variation in the delivery of health care is often interpreted as a sign of overuse of health care resources [206]. Although overuse gets more attention, underuse of health care resources could be a problem as well [207]. It is important to identify sources of undesirable variation and examine whether the variations causes are indicators of overuse or underuse. It is helpful to place emphasis on those sources that can be eliminated to improve the quality of medical care. Variation in treatment is not a concern unless it results in overutilization of a particular treatment in one population or underutilization in another population. In other words, variation in physician approaches in treating patients is not desired if it results in disparities in receiving a particular treatment among a certain population. Part of variation in treatment can be appropriate, especially if it is based on differences in patients' clinical conditions. However, that part of variation that is not legitimate and that is associated with physicians' preferences should be reduced. Although, to date, there is no evidence of less variation associated with a higher quality of care [208], patients should receive the treatment that works best, against lower costs.

The use of OM has increased rapidly since 1990 [30]. Moreover, most of the literature on OM indicates that it is a safe and effective alternative to an inpatient procedure when a patient is in good health, has early-stage breast cancer, and the physician confirms the suitability of the procedure [29]. However some surgeons have

preferences for IM and may not choose to perform OM even if OM is applicable based on a patient's clinical circumstances. The preferences of providers are at risk for being communicated to the patient. Individual patients should be treated with a strategy that is best for them. This can be facilitated through shared medical decision making. One approach is to develop and deploy decision tools that physicians can use to educate patients about the risks, benefits, and long-term outcomes of all of the surgical options (inpatient and outpatient). Decision tools can improve patients' knowledge of surgical options in an unbiased, less pressured environment and have been associated with improved decisional quality for breast cancer care [209]. Decision tools can also be used to tailor interventions to match patient values [189]. Ultimately, the true measure of quality relies not on rates of IM or OM, but the extent to which patients are adequately informed of treatment options. With effective physician-patient communication, treatment decisions reflect patients' personal values, needs, and preferences, and not physicians' comfort with a particular treatment approach.

It is important to identify sources of variations in surgeons' preferences and practice styles in order to design an effective intervention to encourage physicians to avoid adoption of an exclusive approach in their surgeries. Intervention strategies should help surgeons to get experience in using both IM and OM styles and to make decisions based on patient needs rather than their treatment style preferences. For example, if variation is very much related to the influence of a shared work environment and colleagues, consensus conferences can be a useful instrument for effective interventions. Effective strategies can be broad conferences to influence physicians from different hospitals to adopt the same evidence-based standards and guidelines which promote both IM and OM based on patient need, or hospital-based conferences to influence all physicians in a certain group to change their "local standards" toward more global, evidence-based standards.

Another possible intervention would be physician profiling. Physician profiling is a technique that has been used in an attempt to constrain spending and change a physician's choice of hospital length of stay, by comparing his/her individual average to a benchmark figure, or a norm that is either based on practice (such as profiles of other physicians) or on standards (such as practice guidelines), adjusted for severity of illness [81]. This method of 'physician profiling' can be used to compare an individual physician's average number of inpatient and outpatient mastectomies with other physicians' practice patterns. The effectiveness of this method to change physicians' choice of length of stay has been confirmed in previous studies [81, 210]. This individual-physician-based, managerial approach avoids the informal standards within a hospital. Another powerful profiling tool can be the use of data on surgeons' clinical decision-making patterns to inform them about how they can change to become more efficient, or what to do in a particular clinical situation. Informing surgeons about characteristics of their practice styles can create behavior change through education [211].

Findings from this study also provide additional insight into understanding the need for patient education regarding mastectomy treatment options as well as specialized and focused training of breast surgeons. The findings of the study also highlight the need for policy actions at the hospital-level in order to optimize the use of both IM and OM modalities. Hospitals face a financial burden associated with unnecessary inpatient

92

hospitalization and long patient stays [212]. Hence, pressure to meet financial obligations is leading non-teaching and for-profit hospitals to increase outpatient procedures rates and release patients as early as possible. The wide variation in having surgery performed by OM style surgeons and surgeons with an exclusive approach between teaching and non-teaching and between for-profit and non-profit hospitals suggests that the preference of surgeons may be superseding the preference of patients. The results of this study can be used by hospitals for quality assurance measures to evaluate whether their IM or OM utilization rates are simply due to the demographics of the hospital's patient population or because of systemic issues. For situations in which both OM and IM methods are applicable, systems must be developed to ensure that women are aware of the different treatment options they have. However, it is important to note that in designing and implementing surgeon-level strategies to control factors influencing variations in surgeons practice styles, efforts will not succeed unless surgeons get involved from the beginning. Physicians, by virtue of their training and experience, have learned to trust their own judgment and they usually resist to changing their practice styles [213]. However, if programs promoting the use of both OM and IM methods based on patient needs result in improved patient outcomes and satisfaction, surgeons gradually will accept those changes especially when they see that the new policies are moving toward their principal professional goal of helping their patients.

This study has raised additional questions about the factors that cause or influence differences in performing OM versus IM. The current study examined patient and provider level factors associated with surgeons' practice style preferences for mastectomy procedure, however, future studies will be needed to investigate the extent of variation in

breast cancer surgeons practice styles. Knowing the extent of variation in surgeons' practice styles is the first step towards reducing it without reducing the quality of care. Moreover, to date, it is unknown whether less variation in surgeons' practice patterns is related to better quality of care. Future studies should examine the consequences of this variation in terms of costs and patient outcomes such as patient satisfaction. Furthermore, studies evaluating different types of interventions to reduce existing practice style variations can be a valuable source of information to educate others on what does and what does not affect physician behavior. Additionally, patient socioeconomic factors require more investigation. For instance, our study demonstrated that race and income level factors explain some of the variation. It is imperative that a better understanding of such factors in the context of population-based studies on physicians' practice patterns precede any regulatory policy. In addition, future studies will be needed to evaluate the effect of surgeons' demographic, training, and specialization on variations of their practice patterns. Finally, future directions for mastectomy research should be focused on collecting richer data with more clinical information to address the concerns about important factors such as cancer stage influencing the type of procedures that a surgeon performs.

In conclusion, this study has the advantage of being comprehensive and population-based since it includes all patients undergoing mastectomy procedure in the state of Florida hospitals in 2013. Variations in receiving OM versus IM between different racial groups and patients with different socioeconomic backgrounds found in this study support existing evidence on the underutilization of OM among some patient populations. However, this study takes one more step further suggesting that physicians
## REFERENCES

- 1. *Breast Cancer Facts & Figures 2013-2014*. 2013, American Cancer Society: Atlanta: American Cancer Society, Inc.
- 2. Liao, N., K.K. Hunt, and C.M. Balch, *Management of invasive and non-invasive breast cancer in the United States and China*. Chin Clin Oncol, 2016. **5**(3): p. 30.
- 3. Ravdin, P.M., et al., *The decrease in breast-cancer incidence in 2003 in the United States.* N Engl J Med, 2007. **356**(16): p. 1670-4.
- 4. Jemal, A., E. Ward, and M.J. Thun, *Recent trends in breast cancer incidence rates by age and tumor characteristics among U.S. women.* Breast Cancer Res, 2007. **9**(3): p. R28.
- 5. Rossouw, J.E., et al., *Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results From the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial.* JAMA, 2002. **288**(3): p. 321-33.
- Hersh, A.L., M.L. Stefanick, and R.S. Stafford, *National use of postmenopausal hormone therapy: annual trends and response to recent evidence*. Jama, 2004. 291(1): p. 47-53.
- 7. *Breast Cancer Facts & Figures 2015-2016*. 2015, American Cancer Society: Atlanta: American Cancer Society, Inc.
- 8. *Cancer Facts and Figures 2016*. 2016, American Cancer Society: Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society.
- 9. Van Pham, P., Breast Cancer Stem Cell Culture and Proliferation, in Breast Cancer Stem Cells & Therapy Resistance. 2015, Springer International Publishing: Cham. p. 41-55.
- 10. *Breast Cancer Facts and Figures 2011-2012*. 2011, American Cancer Society: Atlanta: American Cancer Society, Inc.
- 11. Radice, D. and A. Redaelli, *Breast cancer management: quality-of-life and cost considerations*. Pharmacoeconomics, 2003. **21**(6): p. 383-96.
- 12. Avelar, J.M., *Erratum to: New Concepts on Abdominoplasty and Further Applications*, in *New Concepts on Abdominoplasty and Further Applications*, J.M. Avelar, Editor. 2016, Springer International Publishing: Cham. p. E1-E1.
- 13. Ajay A. Rao, J.H.N., James Y.-Y. Chen, Shira L. Robbins, Hema L. Ramkumar, *SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975–2009 (Vintage 2009 Populations).* 2009, National Cancer Institute: National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD.

- 14. Chen, W.Y., et al., *Moderate alcohol consumption during adult life, drinking patterns, and breast cancer risk.* Jama, 2011. **306**(17): p. 1884-90.
- 15. Smith-Warner, S.A., et al., *Alcohol and breast cancer in women: A pooled analysis of cohort studies*. JAMA, 1998. **279**(7): p. 535-540.
- 16. Wu, Y., D. Zhang, and S. Kang, *Physical activity and risk of breast cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective studies*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2013. **137**(3): p. 869-82.
- 17. Baer, H.J., et al., *Body fatness at young ages and risk of breast cancer throughout life*. Am J Epidemiol, 2010. **171**(11): p. 1183-94.
- Renehan, A.G., et al., Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Lancet, 2008. 371(9612): p. 569-78.
- 19. Eliassen, A.H., et al., *Adult weight change and risk of postmenopausal breast cancer*. Jama, 2006. **296**(2): p. 193-201.
- 20. Breast cancer and breastfeeding: collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 47 epidemiological studies in 30 countries, including 50302 women with breast cancer and 96973 women without the disease. Lancet, 2002. **360**(9328): p. 187-95.
- 21. Manson, J.E., et al., *Menopausal hormone therapy and health outcomes during the intervention and extended poststopping phases of the Women's Health Initiative randomized trials.* Jama, 2013. **310**(13): p. 1353-68.
- 22. Boyd, N.F., et al., *Mammographic density and the risk and detection of breast cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2007. **356**(3): p. 227-36.
- 23. London, S.J., et al., *A prospective study of benign breast disease and the risk of breast cancer*. Jama, 1992. **267**(7): p. 941-4.
- 24. Travis, L.B., et al., *Breast cancer following radiotherapy and chemotherapy among young women with Hodgkin disease*. Jama, 2003. **290**(4): p. 465-75.
- 25. Veiga, D.F., et al., *Mastectomy versus conservative surgical treatment: the impact on the quality of life of women with breast cancer*. Revista Brasileira de Saúde Materno Infantil, 2010. **10**: p. 51-57.
- 26. Kennedy, S., et al., *Optical breast cancer margin assessment: an observational study of the effects of tissue heterogeneity on optical contrast.* Breast Cancer Res, 2010. **12**(6): p. R91.

- 27. Smith, G.I., *Coding Surgical Procedures: Beyond the Basics*. 1 ed. 2011: Delmar Cengage Learning. 224.
- 28. Ng, Y.Y., et al., *Adopting ambulatory breast cancer surgery as the standard of care in an asian population*. Int J Breast Cancer, 2014. **2014**: p. 672743.
- 29. Rovera, F., et al., *Breast cancer surgery in an ambulatory setting*. Int J Surg, 2008. **6 Suppl 1**: p. S116-8.
- Shahbazi, S. and S.J. Woods, *Influence of physician, patient, and health care system characteristics on the use of outpatient mastectomy*. Am J Surg, 2016. 211(4): p. 802-9.
- 31. Dravet, F., et al., *[Role of outpatient surgery in breast surgery. Prospective feasibility study]*. Ann Chir, 2000. **125**(7): p. 668-76.
- 32. McManus, S.A., D.A. Topp, and C. Hopkins, *Advantages of outpatient breast surgery*. Am Surg, 1994. **60**(12): p. 967-70.
- 33. Warren, J.L., et al., *Trends and outcomes of outpatient mastectomy in elderly women.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 1998. **90**(11): p. 833-40.
- 34. Bian, J., H. Krontiras, and J. Allison, *Outpatient mastectomy and breast reconstructive surgery*. Ann Surg Oncol, 2008. **15**(4): p. 1032-9.
- 35. Lermitte, J. and F. Chung, *Patient selection in ambulatory surgery*. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol, 2005. **18**(6): p. 598-602.
- Outpatient Mastectomies Have Increased over the Last Decade. [cited 2015 November 10]; Available from: <u>http://archive.ahrq.gov/research/oct01/1001RA1.htm</u>.
- Epstein, A.J. and S. Nicholson, *The formation and evolution of physician treatment styles: an application to cesarean sections.* J Health Econ, 2009. 28(6): p. 1126-40.
- Doyle, J.J., Jr., S.M. Ewer, and T.H. Wagner, *Returns to physician human capital:* evidence from patients randomized to physician teams. J Health Econ, 2010. 29(6): p. 866-82.
- 39. Currie, J., W.B. MacLeod, and J. Van Parys, *Provider practice style and patient health outcomes: The case of heart attacks.* J Health Econ, 2016. **47**: p. 64-80.
- 40. O'Neill, L. and J. Kuder, *Explaining variation in physician practice patterns and their propensities to recommend services*. Med Care Res Rev, 2005. **62**(3): p. 339-57.

- 41. Boulis, A.K. and J. Long, *Variation in the treatment of children by primary care physician specialty*. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med, 2002. **156**(12): p. 1210-5.
- 42. Petersen, L.A., et al., *Impact of race on cardiac care and outcomes in veterans with acute myocardial infarction*. Med Care, 2002. **40**(1 Suppl): p. 186-96.
- 43. Gold, M. and M. Greenlick, *Effect of hospital-based primary care setting on internists' use of inpatient hospital resources.* Med Care, 1981. **19**(2): p. 160-71.
- 44. Hadley, J., J.M. Mitchell, and J. Mandelblatt, *Medicare fees and small area variations in breast-conserving surgery among elderly women*. Med Care Res Rev, 2001. **58**(3): p. 334-60.
- 45. Grytten, J. and R. Sorensen, *Practice variation and physician-specific effects*. J Health Econ, 2003. **22**(3): p. 403-18.
- 46. Luft, H.S., Variations in patterns of care and outcomes after acute myocardial infarction for Medicare beneficiaries in fee-for-service and HMO settings. Health Serv Res, 2003. **38**(4): p. 1065-79.
- 47. Gornick, M.E., et al., *Effects of race and income on mortality and use of services among Medicare beneficiaries*. N Engl J Med, 1996. **335**(11): p. 791-9.
- 48. Rich, E.C., et al., *Specialty differences in the 'July Phenomenon' for Twin Cities teaching hospitals*. Med Care, 1993. **31**(1): p. 73-83.
- 49. O'Brien, D.K., J. Flood, and R. Wesley, *Resident test ordering patterns*. Fam Pract Res J, 1987. **7**(1): p. 42-50.
- 50. Westert, G.P. and P.P. Groenewegen, *Medical practice variations: changing the theoretical approach*. Scand J Public Health, 1999. **27**(3): p. 173-80.
- 51. Wennberg, J. and Gittelsohn, *Small area variations in health care delivery*. Science, 1973. **182**(4117): p. 1102-8.
- 52. Case, C., M. Johantgen, and C. Steiner, *Outpatient mastectomy: clinical, payer, and geographic influences.* Health Serv Res, 2001. **36**(5): p. 869-84.
- 53. Pai, C.W., Y.A. Ozcan, and H.J. Jiang, *Regional variation in physician practice pattern: an examination of technical and cost efficiency for treating sinusitis.* J Med Syst, 2000. **24**(2): p. 103-17.
- Haskard Zolnierek, K.B. and M.R. DiMatteo, *Physician Communication and Patient Adherence to Treatment: A Meta-analysis.* Med Care, 2009. 47(8): p. 826-34.

- 55. Bachman, K.H. and D.K. Freeborn, *HMO physicians' use of referrals*. Soc Sci Med, 1999. **48**(4): p. 547-57.
- 56. Donelan, K., et al., *The new medical marketplace: physicians' views*. Health Aff (Millwood), 1997. **16**(5): p. 139-48.
- 57. Eisenberg, J.M., *Physician utilization. The state of research about physicians' practice patterns.* Med Care, 1985. **23**(5): p. 461-83.
- 58. Ferrante, J., et al., *The use and outcomes of outpatient mastectomy in Florida*. Am J Surg, 2000. **179**(4): p. 253-9; discussion 259-60.
- 59. Langley, G.R., et al., *Effect of nonmedical factors on family physicians' decisions about referral for consultation*. Cmaj, 1992. **147**(5): p. 659-66.
- 60. De Jong, J., *Explaining medical practice variation. Social organization and institutional mechanisms.* 2017.
- 61. McCarthy, E.P., et al., *Disparities in breast cancer treatment and survival for women with disabilities.* Ann Intern Med, 2006. **145**(9): p. 637-45.
- 62. VanderWalde, A. and A. Hurria, *Early breast cancer in the older woman*. Clin Geriatr Med, 2012. **28**(1): p. 73-91.
- 63. Samet, J., et al., *Choice of cancer therapy varies with age of patient*. Jama, 1986. **255**(24): p. 3385-90.
- 64. Greenfield, S., et al., *Patterns of care related to age of breast cancer patients*. Jama, 1987. **257**(20): p. 2766-70.
- 65. Memon, Z.A., et al., *Risk of Breast Cancer among Young Women and Importance of Early Screening*. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 2015. **16**(17): p. 7485-9.
- 66. Anders, C.K., et al., *Breast Cancer Before Age 40 Years*. Semin Oncol, 2009. **36**(3): p. 237-49.
- 67. Ayanian, J.Z. and E. Guadagnoli, *Variations in breast cancer treatment by patient and provider characteristics.* Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 1996. **40**(1): p. 65-74.
- 68. Ayanian, J.Z. and J.S. Weissman, *Teaching hospitals and quality of care: a review of the literature*. Milbank Q, 2002. **80**(3): p. 569-93, v.
- 69. McWhorter, W.P. and W.J. Mayer, *Black/white differences in type of initial breast cancer treatment and implications for survival.* Am J Public Health, 1987. **77**(12): p. 1515-7.

71. Hansen, H.B., Variation in use of Buprenorphine and Methadone Treatment by Racial, Ethnic and Income Characteristics of Residential Social Areas in New York City. 2013. **40**(3).

70.

- 72. Klassen, A.C., et al., *The association of area-level social class and tobacco use with adverse breast cancer characteristics among white and black women: evidence from Maryland, 1992–2003.* Int J Health Geogr, 2015. 14.
- 73. Salinas, J.J., et al., *The Rural Urban Divide: Health Services Utilization Among Older Mexicans in Mexico.* J Rural Health, 2010. **26**(4): p. 333-41.
- 74. Hartley, D., L. Quam, and N. Lurie, *Urban and rural differences in health insurance and access to care.* J Rural Health, 1994. **10**(2): p. 98-108.
- 75. Institute of Medicine Committee on Guidance for Designing a National Healthcare Disparities, R., in *Guidance for the National Healthcare Disparities Report*, E.K. Swift, Editor. 2002, National Academies Press (US) Copyright 2002 by the National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.: Washington (DC).
- 76. Carlo Castoro, L.B., Ugo Baccaglini, Christina A. Drace, Martin McKee, *Day surgery : making it happen*. 2007, European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies policy brief: Copenhagen : WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- 77. Roetzheim, R.G., et al., *Effects of health insurance and race on breast carcinoma treatments and outcomes.* Cancer, 2000. **89**(11): p. 2202-13.
- 78. Osteen, R.T., et al., *Insurance coverage of patients with breast cancer in the 1991 commission on cancer patient care evaluation study*. Ann Surg Oncol, 1994. 1(6): p. 462-7.
- 79. Diehr, P., et al., *Treatment modality and quality differences for black and white breast-cancer patients treated in community hospitals*. Med Care, 1989. **27**(10): p. 942-58.
- 80. Dugdale, D.C., R. Epstein, and S.Z. Pantilat, *Time and the Patient–Physician Relationship*. J Gen Intern Med, 1999. **14**(Suppl 1): p. S34-40.
- 81. de Jong, J.D., et al., *Variation in hospital length of stay: do physicians adapt their length of stay decisions to what is usual in the hospital where they work?* Health Serv Res, 2006. **41**(2): p. 374-94.

- 83. Kowalski, C., et al., *Meeting patients' health information needs in breast cancer center hospitals a multilevel analysis.* BMC Health Serv Res, 2014. **14**: p. 601.
- 84. Eddy, D.M., *Variations in physician practice: the role of uncertainty*. Health Aff (Millwood), 1984. **3**(2): p. 74-89.
- 85. Valancy, J., *Recruiting and retaining the right physicians*. Fam Pract Manag, 2007. **14**(9): p. 28-33.
- 86. Tsugawa, Y., et al., *Variation in Physician Spending and Association With Patient Outcomes.* JAMA Intern Med, 2017. **177**(5): p. 675-682.
- 87. Merrill, A.L., A.K. Jha, and J.B. Dimick, *Clinical Effect of Surgical Volume*. N Engl J Med, 2016. **374**(14): p. 1380-2.
- 88. Cheng, C.W., et al., *The Impact of Hospital/Surgeon Volume on Acute Renal Failure and Mortality in Liver Transplantation: A Nationwide Cohort Study.* PLoS One, 2016. **11**(10): p. e0162992.
- 89. Ritchie, W.P., Jr., R.S. Rhodes, and T.W. Biester, *Work loads and practice patterns of general surgeons in the United States, 1995-1997: a report from the American Board of Surgery.* Ann Surg, 1999. **230**(4): p. 533-42; discussion 542-3.
- 90. Tu, J.V., P.C. Austin, and K.W. Johnston, *The influence of surgical specialty training on the outcomes of elective abdominal aortic aneurysm surgery*. J Vasc Surg, 2001. **33**(3): p. 447-52.
- 91. Fowler, F.J., Jr., C.A. Levin, and K.R. Sepucha, *Informing and involving patients* to improve the quality of medical decisions. Health Aff (Millwood), 2011. **30**(4): p. 699-706.
- 92. Smith, D.M., et al., *Primary care physician productivity*. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 1995. **10**(9): p. 495-503.
- 93. Mosadeghrad, A.M., *Factors influencing healthcare service quality*. Int J Health Policy Manag, 2014. **3**(2): p. 77-89.
- 94. Morche, J., T. Mathes, and D. Pieper, *Relationship between surgeon volume and outcomes: a systematic review of systematic reviews*. Syst Rev, 2016. **5**(1): p. 204.

- 95. Marlow, N.E., et al., *Effect of hospital and surgeon volume on patient outcomes* following treatment of abdominal aortic aneurysms: a systematic review. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg, 2010. **40**(5): p. 572-9.
- 96. Wilt, T.J., et al., *Association between hospital and surgeon radical prostatectomy volume and patient outcomes: a systematic review.* J Urol, 2008. **180**(3): p. 820-8; discussion 828-9.
- 97. Schrag, D., et al., Associations between hospital and surgeon procedure volumes and patient outcomes after ovarian cancer resection. J Natl Cancer Inst, 2006.
  98(3): p. 163-71.
- 98. Kandil, E., et al., *The impact of surgical volume on patient outcomes following thyroid surgery*. Surgery, 2013. **154**(6): p. 1346-52; discussion 1352-3.
- 99. Luther, S.L. and J. Studnicki, *Physician practice volume and alternative surgical treatment for breast cancer in Florida*. Health Serv Res, 2001. **36**(6 Pt 2): p. 166-79.
- 100. Ranji, S.R., et al., *Hospital medicine fellowships: works in progress*. Am J Med, 2006. **119**(1): p. 72.e1-7.
- 101. Hyder, O., et al., *Impact of hospital teaching status on length of stay and mortality among patients undergoing complex hepatopancreaticobiliary surgery in the USA*. J Gastrointest Surg, 2013. **17**(12): p. 2114-22.
- 102. Hutter, M.M., R.E. Glasgow, and S.J. Mulvihill, *Does the participation of a surgical trainee adversely impact patient outcomes? A study of major pancreatic resections in California.* Surgery, 2000. **128**(2): p. 286-92.
- 103. Allison, J.J., et al., *Relationship of hospital teaching status with quality of care and mortality for Medicare patients with acute MI*. Jama, 2000. **284**(10): p. 1256-62.
- 104. Rosenthal, G.E., et al., *Severity-adjusted mortality and length of stay in teaching and nonteaching hospitals. Results of a regional study.* Jama, 1997. **278**(6): p. 485-90.
- 105. Stewart, D.B., et al., *Rectal cancer and teaching hospitals: hospital teaching status affects use of neoadjuvant radiation and survival for rectal cancer patients.* Ann Surg Oncol, 2013. **20**(4): p. 1156-63.
- Grosskopf, S., D. Margaritis, and V. Valdmanis, *Comparing teaching and non-teaching hospitals: a frontier approach (teaching vs. non-teaching hospitals)*. Health Care Manag Sci, 2001. 4(2): p. 83-90.

- 107. Ridic, G., S. Gleason, and O. Ridic, *Comparisons of health care systems in the United States, Germany and Canada*. Mater Sociomed, 2012. **24**(2): p. 112-20.
- 108. Sloan, F.A., et al., *Does the ownership of the admitting hospital make a difference? Outcomes and process of care of Medicare beneficiaries admitted with acute myocardial infarction.* Med Care, 2003. **41**(10): p. 1193-205.
- 109. Horwitz, J.R., *Making profits and providing care: comparing nonprofit, forprofit, and government hospitals.* Health Aff (Millwood), 2005. **24**(3): p. 790-801.
- 110. David, G., *The convergence between for-profit and nonprofit hospitals in the United States.* Int J Health Care Finance Econ, 2009. **9**(4): p. 403-28.
- 111. Aiken, L.H., S.P. Clarke, and D.M. Sloane, *Hospital restructuring: does it adversely affect care and outcomes?* J Health Hum Serv Adm, 2001. 23(4): p. 416-42.
- 112. Baker, C.M., et al., *Hospital ownership, performance, and outcomes: assessing the state-of-the-science.* J Nurs Adm, 2000. **30**(5): p. 227-40.
- 113. Tsai, T.C., E.J. Orav, and A.K. Jha, *Patient Satisfaction and Quality of Surgical Care in US Hospitals*. Ann Surg, 2015. **261**(1): p. 2-8.
- Sacks, G.D., et al., *Relationship between hospital performance on a patient satisfaction survey and surgical quality*. JAMA Surgery, 2015. 150(9): p. 858-864.
- 115. Musacchio A. Robert A, Z.S., Jensen E. Lynn, Freshnock Larry *Hospital Ownership and the Practice of Medicine: Evidence from the Physician's Perspective.* 1986: National Academy of Sciences.
- 116. Giancotti, M., A. Guglielmo, and M. Mauro, *Efficiency and optimal size of hospitals: Results of a systematic search*. PLoS One, 2017. **12**(3): p. e0174533.
- 117. Delamater, P.L., et al., *Do More Hospital Beds Lead to Higher Hospitalization Rates? A Spatial Examination of Roemer's Law.* PLOS ONE, 2013. **8**(2): p. e54900.
- 118. Callaway, C.W., et al., *Receiving hospital characteristics associated with survival after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest.* Resuscitation, 2010. **81**(5): p. 524-9.
- 119. Lee, G., Xia, W, Organizational size and IT innovation adoption: A metaanalysis. Information & Management, 2006. **43**(8): p. 975-985.
- 120. Zhao, M., et al., *Value-based purchasing, efficiency, and hospital performance.* Health Care Manag (Frederick), 2015. **34**(1): p. 4-13.

- 121. Birkmeyer, J.D., et al., *Hospital volume and surgical mortality in the United States*. N Engl J Med, 2002. **346**(15): p. 1128-37.
- 122. Le Voyer, T.E., et al., *Colon cancer survival is associated with increasing number of lymph nodes analyzed: a secondary survey of intergroup trial INT-0089.* J Clin Oncol, 2003. **21**(15): p. 2912-9.
- 123. Glasgow, R.E. and S.J. Mulvihill, *Hospital volume influences outcome in patients undergoing pancreatic resection for cancer*. West J Med, 1996. **165**(5): p. 294-300.
- 124. Begg, C.B., et al., *Impact of hospital volume on operative mortality for major cancer surgery*. Jama, 1998. **280**(20): p. 1747-51.
- 125. Meguid, R.A., et al., *Are surgical outcomes for lung cancer resections improved at teaching hospitals?* Ann Thorac Surg, 2008. **85**(3): p. 1015-24; discussion 1024-5.
- 126. Halm, E.A., C. Lee, and M.R. Chassin, *Is volume related to outcome in health care? A systematic review and methodologic critique of the literature*. Ann Intern Med, 2002. **137**(6): p. 511-20.
- Elixhauser, A., C. Steiner, and I. Fraser, *Volume thresholds and hospital characteristics in the United States*. Health Aff (Millwood), 2003. 22(2): p. 167-77.
- 128. Phillips, K.A. and H.S. Luft, *The policy implications of using hospital and physician volumes as "indicators" of quality of care in a changing health care environment*. Int J Qual Health Care, 1997. **9**(5): p. 341-8.
- 129. Wood, T.W., et al., *High-Volume Hospitals with High-Volume and Low-Volume Surgeons: Is There a "Field Effect" for Pancreaticoduodenectomy?* Am Surg, 2016. **82**(5): p. 407-11.
- 130. *American Community Survey*. 2009; Available from: <u>http://www/</u>. census.gov/acs/www/.
- 131. Avalere Health Analysis of American Hospital Association Annual Survey Data, 2009, for Community Hospitals. 2009.
- 132. *The Opportunities and Challenges for Rural Hospitals in an Era of Health Reform*. 2011; Available from: <u>http://www.aha.org/research/reports/tw/11apr-tw-</u> <u>rural.pdf</u>.
- 133. Billings, J. and D. Eddy, *Physician decision making limited by medical evidence*. Bus Health, 1987. **5**(1): p. 23, 26-8.

- 135. Dor, A. and J. Holahan, *Urban-rural differences in Medicare physician expenditures*. Inquiry, 1990. **27**(4): p. 307-18.
- 136. Weiner, J.P., et al., Variation in office-based quality. A claims-based profile of care provided to Medicare patients with diabetes. Jama, 1995. **273**(19): p. 1503-8.
- 137. Congdon, P., *Modelling multiple hospital outcomes: the impact of small area and primary care practice variation.* Int J Health Geogr, 2006. **5**: p. 50.
- 138. Davis, P., et al., *How much variation in clinical activity is there between general practitioners? A multi-level analysis of decision-making in primary care.* J Health Serv Res Policy, 2002. **7**(4): p. 202-8.
- 139. Weinstein, J.N., et al., *Trends and geographic variations in major surgery for degenerative diseases of the hip, knee, and spine.* Health Aff (Millwood), 2004. **Suppl Variation**: p. Var81-9.
- Westert, G.P., A.P. Nieboer, and P.P. Groenewegen, Variation in duration of hospital stay between hospitals and between doctors within hospitals. Soc Sci Med, 1993. 37(6): p. 833-9.
- 141. Van Parys, J., Variation in Physician Practice Styles within and across Emergency Departments. PLoS One, 2016. 11(8).
- 142. Kotwall, C.A., et al., *Clinicopathologic factors and patient perceptions associated with surgical breast-conserving treatment*. Ann Surg Oncol, 1996. **3**(2): p. 169-75.
- 143. Ewing, G.B., et al., *Self-report of delivery of clinical preventive services by U.S. physicians. Comparing specialty, gender, age, setting of practice, and area of practice.* Am J Prev Med, 1999. **17**(1): p. 62-72.
- 144. *Databases and Related Tools from HCUP: Fact Sheet.* 2011; Available from: <u>http://archive.ahrq.gov/research/findings/factsheets/tools/hcupdata/datahcup.html</u>.
- 145. *HCUP Databases. Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP).* 2016; Available from: <u>www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/sidoverview.jsp</u>.
- 146. *Connecting Florida with health care information*. Available from: http://www.floridahealthfinder.gov/index.html.
- 147. Kruper, L., et al., *Utilization of Mastectomy and Reconstruction in the Outpatient Setting*. Ann Surg Oncol, 2013. **20**(3).

- 148. Miller, M.E., W.P. Welch, and H.G. Welch, *The impact of practicing in multiple hospitals on physician profiles.* Med Care, 1996. **34**(5): p. 455-62.
- 149. Birkmeyer, J.D., et al., *Surgeon volume and operative mortality in the United States*. N Engl J Med, 2003. **349**(22): p. 2117-27.
- 150. Quality, A.f.H.R.a., Version 3.5 Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) in HCUP Comorbidity Software [computer program]. 2009: Rockville, MD.
- Iezzoni, L.I., Assessing quality using administrative data. Ann Intern Med, 1997. 127(8 Pt 2): p. 666-74.
- 152. Zhou, J., et al., Breast Conserving Surgery versus Mastectomy: The Influence of Comorbidities on Choice of Surgical Operation in the Department of Defense Healthcare System. Am J Surg, 2013. **206**(3): p. 393-9.
- 153. Saha, D., et al., *Post-mastectomy reconstruction: a risk-stratified comparative analysis of outcomes.* Breast, 2013. **22**(6): p. 1072-80.
- 154. Mays, S., T.-A. Moo, and R.M. Simmons, *Impact of comorbidities on surgical* outcomes following mastectomy in elderly breast cancer patients: An analysis of the NSQIP database. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2015. **33**(28 suppl): p. 88-88.
- 155. Sogaard, M., et al., *The impact of comorbidity on cancer survival: a review*. Clin Epidemiol, 2013. **5**(Suppl 1): p. 3-29.
- 156. Sarfati, D., B. Koczwara, and C. Jackson, *The impact of comorbidity on cancer and its treatment*. CA Cancer J Clin, 2016. **66**(4): p. 337-50.
- 157. Hillas, G., et al., *Managing comorbidities in COPD*. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis, 2015. **10**: p. 95-109.
- 158. McDermott, A.M., et al., *Surgeon and breast unit volume-outcome relationships in breast cancer surgery and treatment.* Ann Surg, 2013. **258**(5): p. 808-13; discussion 813-4.
- 159. Fisher, S., et al., Using Multilevel Models to Explain Variation in Clinical Practice: Surgeon Volume and the Surgical Treatment of Breast Cancer. Ann Surg Oncol, 2016. **23**(6): p. 1845-51.
- 160. *Florida Rural Hospital Directory*. [cited 2017; Available from: <u>http://www.floridahealth.gov/programs-and-services/community-health/rural-health/rhd81913.pdf</u>.

- 161. Bennin, C.K., et al., Achieving timely percutaneous reperfusion for rural STelevation myocardial infarction patients by direct transport to an urban PCIhospital. J Geriatr Cardiol, 2016. **13**(10): p. 840-845.
- 162. Houchens R, C.B., Steiner C, *Hierarchical Modeling using HCUP Data HCUP Methods Series*. 2007, U.S. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
- 163. Hayanga, A.J., et al., *Residential segregation and access to surgical care by minority populations in US counties.* J Am Coll Surg, 2009. **208**(6): p. 1017-22.
- 164. Barnett, J.C.M.S.V. Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2015,. Current Population Reports 2016 [cited 2017; Available from: <u>https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2016/demo/p60-257.pdf</u>.
- 165. Hollenbeck, B.K., et al., *Ambulatory surgery centers and outpatient procedure use among Medicare beneficiaries*. Med Care, 2014. **52**(10): p. 926-31.
- 166. Hoehn, J.L., *Definitive breast cancer surgery as an outpatient: a rational basis for the transition.* Semin Surg Oncol, 1996. **12**(1): p. 53-8.
- 167. Williams, D.R. and M. Sternthal, *Understanding Racial/ethnic Disparities in Health: Sociological Contributions().* J Health Soc Behav, 2010. **51**(Suppl): p. S15-27.
- 168. Lyratzopoulos, G., et al., Understanding ethnic and other socio-demographic differences in patient experience of primary care: evidence from the English General Practice Patient Survey. BMJ Qual Saf, 2012. **21**(1): p. 21-9.
- 169. Yuri, R.C.S.K.B.A.S.L.A.K.C.B.J.D.B.K.D.B.E.K.N.Y.L., American Thyroid Association Guidelines for Management of Patients with Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer. THYROID, 2012. **22**(11).
- 170. S, L.L.B.E.N. Committee on Improving the Quality of Cancer Care: Addressing the Challenges of an Aging Population; Board on Health Care Services; Institute of Medicine. Patient-Centered Communication and Shared Decision Making 2013; Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK202146/</u>.
- 171. Stensland, J., I. Moscovice, and J. Christianson, *Future Financial Viability of Rural Hospitals*. Health Care Financ Rev, 2002. **23**(4): p. 175-88.
- 172. Schmidt, C., et al., *Effect of hospital volume, surgeon experience, and surgeon volume on patient outcomes after pancreaticoduodenectomy: A single-institution experience.* Archives of Surgery, 2010. **145**(7): p. 634-640.

- 173. G;, S.C.K.Z.M.I.P. Surgeries in Hospital-Based Ambulatory Surgery and Hospital Inpatient Settings, 2014. HCUP Statistical Brief #223. 2017; Available from: <u>www.hcup-</u> us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb223-Ambulatory-Inpatient-Surgeries-2014.pdf.
- 174. Tariman, J.D., et al., *Patient, Physician and Contextual Factors Are Influential in the Treatment Decision Making of Older Adults Newly Diagnosed with Symptomatic Myeloma.* Cancer Treat Commun, 2014. **2**(2-3): p. 34-47.
- 175. Baum, N. *Physician Ownership in Hospitals and Outpatient Facilities*. 2013 [cited 2017.
- 176. McClellan, M., *Are the returns to technological change in health*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. **93**(23): p. 12701-8.
- 177. Urbach, D. and N. Baxter, *Does it matter what a hospital is "high volume" for? Specificity of hospital volume-outcome associations for surgical procedures: analysis of administrative data(\*).* Qual Saf Health Care, 2004. **13**(5): p. 379-83.
- Kocher, R. and N.R. Sahni Hospitals' Race to Employ Physicians The Logic behind a Money-Losing Proposition. New England Journal of Medicine, 2011. 364(19): p. 1790-1793.
- 179. Bernheim, S.M., et al., Influence of Patients' Socioeconomic Status on Clinical Management Decisions: A Qualitative Study. Ann Fam Med, 2008. 6(1): p. 53-9.
- 180. Berglund, A., et al., Social differences in lung cancer management and survival in South East England: a cohort study. BMJ Open, 2012. **2**(3).
- Serper, M., et al., Association of Provider Specialty and Multidisciplinary Care With Hepatocellular Carcinoma Treatment and Mortality. Gastroenterology. 152(8): p. 1954-1964.
- 182. Tariman, J.D., et al., *Physician, Patient and Contextual Factors Affecting Treatment Decisions in Older Adults with Cancer: A Literature Review*. Oncol Nurs Forum, 2012. **39**(1): p. E70-83.
- 183. Hodgson, D.C., C.S. Fuchs, and J.Z. Ayanian, *Impact of Patient and Provider Characteristics on the Treatment and Outcomes of Colorectal Cancer.* JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 2001. 93(7): p. 501-515.
- 184. Mahar, A.L., et al., *Regional variation in the management of metastatic gastric cancer in Ontario.* 2016, 2016. **23**(4): p. 8.
- 185. Flocke, S.A. and D. Litaker, *Physician Practice Patterns and Variation in the Delivery of Preventive Services*. J Gen Intern Med, 2007. **22**(2): p. 191-6.

- 186. E, F., *A Study of the Sociology of Applied Knowledge*. New York: Dodd, Mead & Company, 1975.
- 187. GP, W., Variation in Use of Hospital Care. Assen: Van Gorcum; , 1992.
- 188. De Jong JD, G.P., Westert GP, *Mutual influences of general practitioners in partnerships*. Soc Science Med, 2003. **57**(8): p. 1515-24.
- 189. Collins, E.D., et al., *Can women with early-stage breast cancer make an informed decision for mastectomy?* J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(4): p. 519-25.
- 190. Chassin, M.R., *Explaining geographic variations*. *The enthusiasm hypothesis*. Med Care, 1993. **31**(5 Suppl): p. Ys37-44.
- 191. Baird, E.O., et al., *National Trends in Outpatient Surgical Treatment of Degenerative Cervical Spine Disease*. Global Spine J, 2014. **4**(3): p. 143-50.
- 192. Ghoneim, M.M. and M.W. O'Hara, *Depression and postoperative complications: an overview*. BMC Surg, 2016. **16**.
- 193. Chen, H.S., et al., *Impact of Treatment Modalities on Survival of Patients With Locoregional Esophageal Squamous-Cell Carcinoma in Taiwan*. Medicine (Baltimore), 2016. **95**(10): p. e3018.
- Smaldone, M.C., et al., *Clinical characteristics associated with treatment type for localized renal tumors: implications for practice pattern assessment.* Urology, 2013. 81(2): p. 269-75.
- 195. Chen, T. and L. Chen, *Prediction of Clinical Outcome for All Stages and Multiple Cell Types of Non-small Cell Lung Cancer in Five Countries Using Lung Cancer Prognostic Index*. EBioMedicine, 2014. **1**(2-3): p. 156-66.
- 196. Neal, R.D., et al., Is increased time to diagnosis and treatment in symptomatic cancer associated with poorer outcomes? Systematic review. Br J Cancer, 2015. 112(Suppl 1): p. S92-s107.
- 197. Masi, C.M., D.J. Blackman, and M.E. Peek, *Interventions to Enhance Breast Cancer Screening, Diagnosis, and Treatment among Racial and Ethnic Minority Women.* Med Care Res Rev, 2007. **64**(5 Suppl): p. 195s-242s.
- 198. Boissoneault, J., et al., Assessment of the Influence of Demographic and Professional Characteristics on Health Care Providers' Pain Management Decisions Using Virtual Humans. J Dent Educ, 2016. **80**(5): p. 578-87.
- Schmittdiel, J., et al., Effect of Physician and Patient Gender Concordance on Patient Satisfaction and Preventive Care Practices. J Gen Intern Med, 2000. 15(11): p. 761-9.

- 200. Abilez, C.A., *Evaluation of Health Care Cost and Utilization Project Data* (*HCUP*) in *Healthcare Research*. 2013, University of North Texas Health Science Center at Fort Worth.
- 201. Hawley, S., et al., *Managed care patients' preferences, physician* recommendations, and colon cancer screening. Am J Manag Care, 2014. **20**(7): p. 555-61.
- 202. Graham, P.J., et al., *Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy for Breast Cancer, Is Practice Changing? A Population-Based Review of Current Surgical Trends.* Ann Surg Oncol, 2015. **22**(10): p. 3376-82.
- 203. Omar, M., et al., *Shared decision making: why do patients choose ureteroscopy?* Urolithiasis, 2016. **44**(2): p. 167-72.
- 204. Evans, R.G., *The Dog in the Night-time: Medical Practice Variations and Health Policy*, in *The Challenges of Medical Practice Variations*, T.F. Andersen and G. Mooney, Editors. 1990, Macmillan Education UK: London. p. 117-152.
- 205. Verhaak, P.F., Analysis of referrals of mental health problems by general practitioners. Br J Gen Pract, 1993. **43**(370): p. 203-8.
- 206. Fisher, E.S., et al., *Hospital readmission rates for cohorts of Medicare beneficiaries in Boston and New Haven.* N Engl J Med, 1994. **331**(15): p. 989-95.
- 207. McNeil, B.J., *Shattuck Lecture--Hidden barriers to improvement in the quality of care*. N Engl J Med, 2001. **345**(22): p. 1612-20.
- 208. Fertig, A., et al., Understanding variation in rates of referral among general practitioners: are inappropriate referrals important and would guidelines help to reduce rates? Bmj, 1993. **307**(6917): p. 1467-70.
- 209. Waljee, J.F., M.A. Rogers, and A.K. Alderman, *Decision aids and breast cancer: do they influence choice for surgery and knowledge of treatment options?* J Clin Oncol, 2007. **25**(9): p. 1067-73.
- 210. Evans, J.H., 3rd, Y. Hwang, and N. Nagarajan, *Physicians' response to length-of-stay profiling*. Med Care, 1995. **33**(11): p. 1106-19.
- 211. Flarey, D.L. and S.S. Blancett, *Handbook of nursing case management : health care delivery in a world of managed care*. 1996, Gaithersburg, Md.: Aspen Publishers.
- Styron, J.F., et al., *Patient versus Provider Characteristics Impacting Hospital* Lengths of Stay Following Total Knee or Hip Arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty, 2011.
   26(8): p. 1418-1426.e2.

213. Zablocki, E., *Changing physician practice patterns : strategies for success in a capitated health care system*. 1995, Gaithersburg, Md.: Aspen Publishers.

	Exclusive IM			Exclusive OM			
	OR	95%CI	p-value	OR	95%CI	p-value	
<b>Patients Characteristics</b>							
Patient Age							
<40	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent		
40-59	1.64	0.82-3.29	0.161	0.91	0.61-1.35	0.639	
≥60	2.00	0.95-4.19	0.068	1.37	0.89-2.10	0.151	
Patient Race							
White	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent		
Black	1.53	1.02-2.28	0.039	0.83	0.60-1.15	0.273	
Hispanic	1.07	0.71-1.61	0.753	0.87	0.66-1.15	0.326	
Other	1.28	0.61-2.69	0.518	1.30	0.80-2.14	0.292	
Primary Payer							
Medicare	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent		
Medicaid	0.90	0.52-1.57	0.711	0.98	0.64-1.50	0.919	
Private Insurance	1.46	0.98-2.17	0.061	1.25	0.95-1.65	0.106	
Other	1.02	0.55-1.89	0.944	1.26	0.83-1.92	0.284	
Patient Residency							
Urban	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent		
Rural	1.43	0.89-2.30	0.143	0.16	0.08-0.30	0.000	
Median Household							
Income							
Quartile 1	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent		
Quartile2	0.71	0.52-0.97	0.032	0.94	0.75-1.18	0.599	
Quartile3	0.55	0.37-0.81	0.002	0.74	0.58-0.96	0.025	
Ouartile 4	0.72	0.40-1.30	0.279	0.78	0.53-1.15	0.207	
Individual							
Comorbidities							
Hypertension	1.06	0.78-1.43	0.708	0.75	0.60-0.93	0.010	
Chronic Pulmonary	0.65	0.34-1.24	0.189	0.69	0.42-1.13	0.137	
Disease							
Diabetes	1.07	0.74-1.55	0.706	1.17	0.88-1.56	0.290	
Hypothyroidism	0.96	0.64-1.46	0.855	0.51	0.34-0.75	0.001	
Renal failure	0.89	0.43-1.84	0.749	1.09	0.54-2.20	0.806	
Deficiency anemias	1.47	0.87-2.49	0.147	0.57	0.31-1.04	0.068	
Obesity	1.11	0.69-1.79	0.665	0.62	0.38-1.00	0.050	
Depression	1.87	1.20-2.93	0.006	0.88	0.56-1.37	0.563	

APPENDIX A: Sensitivity Analysis excluding surgeons with exact number of IM and OM

Surgeon Mastectomy						
Volume						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	0.30	0.22-0.41	0.000	0.41	0.33-0.52	0.000
High	0.06	0.04-0.10	0.000	0.11	0.09-0.15	0.000
Hospital Mastectomy						
Volume						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	0.75	0.50-1.14	0.177	0.89	0.65-1.21	0.453
High	0.67	0.37-1.20	0.174	1.49	1.03-2.16	0.034
Hospital Total Discharge						
Volume						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	2.83	1.65-4.86	0.003	0.28	0.21-0.38	0.000
High	3.10	1.41-6.82	0.005	1.20	0.74-1.93	0.462
<b>Teaching Status</b>						
Teaching	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Non-teaching	1.69	1.19-2.39	0.003	1.89	1.51-2.37	0.000
Ownership						
Not-for-profit	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
For-profit	2.27	1.71-3.00	0.000	2.76	2.23-3.41	0.000
Hospital Bed Size						
Small	1			1		
Medium	0.42	0.29-0.61	0.000	0.87	0.65-1.15	0.328
Large	0.96	0.53-1.72	0.883	0.79	0.54-1.15	0.212
<b>Hospital Location</b>						
Urban	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Rural	2.12	1.10-4.08	0.024	0.53	0.19-1.51	0.235

		Exclusive IM	1	Exclusive OM		
	OR	9 <mark>5%CI</mark>	p-value	OR	9 <mark>5%</mark> CI	p-value
Patients Characteristics						
Patient Age						
<40	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
40-59	1.64	0.81-3.30	0.170	0.88	0.60-1.31	0.534
≥60	1.96	0.93-4.11	0.076	1.37	0.89-2.10	0.151
Patient Race						
White	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Black	1.52	1.02-2.28	0.040	0.87	0.63-1.21	0.416
Hispanic	1.07	0.71-1.61	0.743	0.81	0.62-1.04	0.100
Other	1.31	0.61-2.78	0.487	1.32	0.84-2.07	0.234
Primary Payer						
Medicare	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medicaid	0.99	0.61-1.61	0.965	0.98	0.64-1.50	0.919
Private Insurance	1.46	0.98-2.17	0.062	1.19	0.91-1.55	0.198
Other	1.07	0.57-1.99	0.837	1.25	0.85-1.83	0.253
Patient Residency						
Urban	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Rural	1.49	0.92-2.42	0.166	0.19	0.11-0.33	0.000
Median Household						
Income						
Quartile 1	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Quartile2	0.66	0.50-0.88	0.004	0.87	0.70-1.07	0.189
Quartile3	0.58	0.41-0.81	0.002	0.69	0.54-0.88	0.002
Quartile 4	0.77	0.46-1.29	0.317	0.78	0.54-1.11	0.165
Individual						
Comorbidities						
Hypertension	1.05	0.77-1.42	0.764	0.73	0.59-0.89	0.003
Chronic Pulmonary	0.73	0.38-1.40	0.342	0.68	0.41-1.12	0.131
Disease						
Diabetes	1.00	0.69-1.45	0.995	1.20	0.90-1.60	0.220
Hypothyroidism	0.98	0.64-1.50	0.925	0.48	0.33-0.69	0.000
Renal failure	0.96	0.47-1.99	0.921	1.01	0.50-2.03	0.980
Deficiency anemias	1.48	0.93-2.38	0.101	0.61	0.36-1.03	0.062
Obesity	1.19	0.78-1.82	0.420	0.57	0.36-0.90	0.016
Depression	1.79	1.17-2.72	0.007	0.85	0.56-1.29	0.435

APPENDIX B: Sensitivity Analysis excluding surgeons with one Record of Mastectomy

Surgeon Mastectomy						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	0.17	0.12-0.23	0.000	0.41	0.32-0.51	0.000
High	0.03	0.02-0.05	0.000	0.11	0.06-0.09	0.000
Hospital Mastactomy	0.05	0.02 0.05	0.000	0.07	0.00 0.09	0.000
Volume						
I ow	1.00	Deferent		1.00	Deferent	
Low	1.00		0 1 2 2	1.00	$\Lambda (5, 1, 2)$	0 452
Medium	0.70	0.44-1.12	0.132	0.89	0.65-1.21	0.453
High	0.67	0.37-1.20	0.174	1.49	1.03-2.16	0.034
Hospital Total Discharge						
Volume						
Low	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Medium	2.83	1.64-4.88	0.000	0.30	0.21-0.41	0.000
High	3.10	1.41-6.82	0.005	1.20	0.74-1.93	0.462
<b>Teaching Status</b>						
Teaching	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Non-teaching	1.72	1.21-2.44	0.002	1.89	1.51-2.37	0.000
Ownership						
Not-for-profit	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
For-profit	2.23	1.63-3.03	0.000	2.68	2.12-3.39	0.000
Hospital Bed Size						
Small	1			1		
Medium	0.42	0.29-0.60	0.000	0.87	0.65-1.15	0.328
Large	0.96	0.53-1.72	0.883	0.79	0.54-1.15	0.212
Hospital Location		···· - ··· -				
Urban	1.00	Referent		1.00	Referent	
Rural	2.13	1.11-4.11	0.024	0.49	0.18-1.36	0.173